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Implementation of the New International Standard IFRS 

16 Leases in the Czech Republic 

 
 

Abstract 

 

The main objective of the thesis is the implementation of the international accounting 

standard IFRS 16 Leases in a particular limited liability company based in the Czech 

Republic. For entities recording and reporting in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), the application of this new standard is mandatory from 1 

January 2019. 

The aim of the theoretical part of the diploma thesis is to introduce the differences in 

the concept of leases according to the Czech legal regulations and IFRS; determining 

potential consequences of the introduction of the new IFRS 16 and the transition from Czech 

law to international standards. 

 

Keywords: IFRS, financial and operating lease, accounting, lessee, lessor, financial ratios, 

Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Statement 
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Implementace nového mezinárodního účetního 

standardu IFRS 16 Leasingy v podmínkách České 

republiky 

 
 

Abstrakt 

 

Hlavním cílem práce je implementace mezinárodního standardu IFRS 16 Leasingy 

v konkrétní společnosti s ručením omezeným se sídlem v České republice. Pro účetní 

jednotky účtující a sestavující výkazy dle mezinárodních standardů finančního výkaznictví 

(IFRS) je aplikace tohoto nového standardu povinná od 1. 1. 2019. 

Cílem teoretické části diplomové práce je přiblížení rozdílů v pojetí leasingů dle 

českých právních předpisů a mezinárodních standardů účetního výkaznictví IFRS; odvození 

případných důsledků zavedení nového standardu IFRS 16 a přechodu z českých právních 

předpisů na mezinárodní standardy. 

 

Klíčová slova: IFRS, finanční a operativní leasing, účetnictví, nájemce, pronajímatel, 

finanční ukazatele, rozvaha, výkaz zisku a ztráty 
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 Introduction 

This diploma thesis deals with the implementation of the new International Financial 

Reporting Standard (IFRS 16), which regulates the reporting of leases, and the expected 

impacts on lessees in lease intensive industries. In recent years, with the growth of 

globalisation, foreign investment has grown. For investors who obtain information from 

financial statements; however, it is difficult to compare these statements and decide on them 

if different companies use different accounting standards for their compilation. Investors and 

shareholders can compare the company's financial results with those of previous years, 

comparing firms with each other within the industry, or across the market, but it is 

problematic. On the other hand, it is costly for companies to compile financial statements 

according to multiple accounting standards. Different ways of reporting not only leases but 

also other items of the Balance Sheet or Profit and Loss account, also, cause differences in 

critical financial ratios. 

 

The current form of leases reporting is one of the essential items that distorts financial 

statements and key financial indicators. For this reason, the need for a new international 

standard that would regulate leases reporting would be facilitated, thereby facilitating the 

cross-border comparison of financial statements, increasing their transparency and enabling 

shareholders and investors to comprehend business reports globally. The International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB), which issued IFRS, and Financial Accounting 

Standards Board (FASB) issuing the US GAAP, began to work together in the drafting of a 

new standard to regulate leverage accounting in 2006. In 2009, a discussion paper was issued 

Leases: Preliminary Views, in 2010 first Exposure Draft ED/2010/9 and improved 

ED/2013/6 in 2013. In January 2016, the IASB issued the new IFRS 16 International 

Financial Reporting Standard. It will officially enter into force in 2019, but it can be used 

earlier if it meets predefined conditions. In the Czech Republic, the start of IFRS 16 will 

depend on the European Union approval process. The new IFRS 16 standard recognise 

statement of financial position, but in this thesis, author will use more commonly known 

term Balance Sheet.  

 

Changes in the methodologies for classifying and reporting leases can be expected to have 

an impact on the Company's Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss account and therefore 
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changes in the financial statements. These changes will affect the users of the financial 

statements, mostly investors and shareholders, in their investment decisions. The new 

standard is expected to eliminate the differences in the reporting of financial and operating 

leases, its accounting will be more unified, the comparability options will increase, and the 

data reported in the financial statements will be more transparent. Users of financial 

statements should no longer be required to make financial statements adjustments to obtain 

the necessary information and then comparing it. The size of the impact of IFRS 16 

implementation on a company will vary, depending on the type of industry and region in 

which the company operates. 
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2 Objectives and Methodology 

This chapter describes the objectives of this thesis and procedures, approaches and methods 

that have been used to process the diploma thesis.  

2.1 Objectives 

The main objective of the thesis is the implementation of the international accounting 

standard IFRS 16 Leases in a particular limited liability company based in the Czech 

Republic. For entities recording and reporting in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the application of this new standard is 

mandatory from 1 January 2019. 

 

The aim of the theoretical part of the diploma thesis is to introduce the differences in 

the concept of leases according to the Czech legal regulations and IFRS; determining 

potential consequences of the introduction of the new IFRS 16 and the transition from 

Czech law to international standards. 

2.2 Methodology 

Author has chosen the topic IFRS 16 leases, because the standard is going to apply 

from 1st January 2019. All the companies operating in the Czech Republic that must 

report their Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Statement according to International 

standards for some reason will have to use the new IFRS 16 standard. This thesis will 

compare and evaluate the differences between the IFRS 16 and Czech accounting 

legislation, rather than the previous International standard IAS 17 (as this comparison 

is most common these days) because author wanted to produce a thesis that will be 

valuable for companies now as well as in the future.  

 

Author has chosen a limited liability company, that will provide an access to their 

accounting system and other data, that will be needed for the practical part. An 

agreement with the company has been signed that the thesis will not contain the 

company’s name or other particular information, that would lead the reader to 

recognise the company. Therefore, “ABC” will be used throughout the thesis as the 

company’s name.  
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When the topic has been chosen, author had to get the theoretical background of the 

problem. The information has been obtained from Czech as well as foreign literature 

and internet sources. Mainly, the consulting companies such as PWC, KPMG, EY and 

Deloitte were chosen as valuable sources. The obtained information was evaluated for 

suitability and then sorted into chapters listed below. Synthesis will provide an 

overview of the nature of the accounting for financial and operating leases under Czech 

law and IFRS (including the comparison of IAS 17 and IFRS 16). To address the issue 

in a broader context, IFRS will be characterised. The comparison will describe the 

differences in the approaches to leases under both accounting frameworks, and 

deduction will be based on the impact on the financial statements and, implicitly, on 

the financial analysis indicators. 

 

In the practical part, the application of IFRS 16 will be implemented in a particular 

joint stock company, which will be transferred from accounting according to Czech 

legislation to accounting and compilation of financial statements according to IFRS, 

and on specific examples will be quantified impacts on individual items of financial 

statements, or impact on selected financial indicators analysis. Data from the 

accounting system of the concrete company will be used to compile the Balance Sheet 

and Profit and Loss Statement according to the Czech accounting legislation. Since 

the company has only a few leases contracts, author will evaluate all of them according 

to the new IFRS 16 standard. In the next step, the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss 

Statement will be compiled according to the new International standard IFRS 16. The 

differences will be calculated and evaluated by using selected financial indicators such 

as Return on assets, Current ratio, Total debt to total assets, Shareholder equity ratio, 

Debt/Equity ratio and Interest cover. Author has selected these indicators because it is 

expected that the application of the new IFRS 16 standard will have an impact on all 

of them. Using the induction method, conclusions will be drawn. 
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3 Literature Review 

This part of the diploma thesis aims to introduce the development of the international 

standards from IAS 17 into IFRS 16 and the differences in the concept of leases 

according to the Czech legal regulations and international financial reporting standards 

IFRS. 

 

3.1 Characteristics of the lease 

One possible form of acquisition of fixed assets is a specific way of financing this 

property - leases. Property financing through leases has first developed in the US and 

the UK. This specific financing method has joined since the 1950s the classic forms 

of acquisition of long-term assets, such as its purchase from its financial resources or 

various foreign sources. Since then, the leases sector has expanded considerably, and 

it is not possible to compare this period with the present. The underlying idea of this 

alternative form of long-term financing is that for a successful and efficient business 

of a particular business, it is in some cases more advantageous long-term assets to only 

use, not own. In this case, property ownership and ownership are separated (Marek, 

2006). Current managers and entrepreneurs have to prove whether they will be paid 

for long-term rent or immediate purchase. In this decision, aspects such as accounting, 

tax, and ownership of the subject matter of the lease play a role. 

 

Generally, the lease may be a contractual relationship between the lessor (usually the 

owner of the subject of the contract) and the lessee (the temporary user of the matter 

of the contract) under which the lessor provides the lessee right to use the thing for an 

agreed period of time and a payment or other non-monetary consideration. The 

characteristic feature of the leases relationship is the use of a foreign matter for the 

agreed payment. During the leases, the ownership right of the leased property remains 

to the lessor throughout the lease (Vychopeň, 2010). 

 

From the legal point of view, classical leases represent a tripartite legal relationship 

between the lessor, the lessee and the supplier, in which the lessor buys the property 

from the supplier and provides it for a fee, or another non-monetary service, to the 

lessee. However, the landlord is still the landlord who signs the lease with the lessee. 
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The leases transaction is only between the lender and the landlord, however, it is a so-

called tripartite relationship because the third party is a leases company that usually 

leases the subject matter of the leased asset, specifying the precise parameters of the 

leased property, the delivery and warranty the terms of the contract and the supplier 

(most often directly the manufacturer or seller of the lease subject). In practice, 

however, there are situations where only two entities have a lease relationship. This is 

a so-called reverse lease, which is specific in that the supplier is also the lender. There 

may also be a situation where the landlord is not the same as the owner of the leased 

asset, and then four parties are involved in the leases business (Valach, 2006). 

 

It can be emphasised that in a lease business operation, it is possible to gain access to 

the use of the necessary machine, equipment or another asset without the risks 

associated with its ownership. In the case of leases, it is possible to acquire this 

property in the ownership after the expiry of the lease term at a price approaching its 

residual value. During or immediately after the lease, these asset values can be changed 

to more modern or technically advanced. Leases can fulfil a business or consumer plan 

without collecting the funds needed to acquire it. Leases belong to market economies 

between business transactions through which it is possible to use foreign objects, law 

or other property value, to acquire it and, if necessary, to combine that use or 

acquisition with the use of related services. Individual lease products are based on an 

emphasis on the use, acquisition or service nature of the lease, and are proportionally 

prepared for purchase, hire purchase, lease or loan purchase. Leases in its core 

products combine the essential features of these business transactions. It has become 

their real, easy-to-use and, in some cases, even more, beneficial variants (Benda, 

2006). 

 

In the Czech Republic, many lease companies of various types are currently operating 

on the lease market. They are, on the one hand, independent lease companies, banks' 

subsidiaries, larger companies and importers. Leases are also provided by some banks 

directly or by some companies as an ancillary activity. Most lease companies are not 

specialized in certain commodities. Only the lease companies of manufacturers and 

importers focus on the lease of selected products. Previously, the demand for supply 

exceeded the lease market. This is mainly because of insufficient equipping of 
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companies with equity capital and relatively strong credit restrictions and limited 

issurance corporate bonds. The surplus of demand had the effect of higher profit 

margins of lease companies, a considerable part of the risk was shifted to the lessee, 

the offer less adapted to the possibilities and needs of the companies. Later, however, 

the market began to consolidate, leaving a number of lease companies and increased 

competition on the supply side. Currently, there is a different offer for tenants on the 

market, with various discounts, non-standard forms of repayments and so on (Valach, 

2006). 

3.2 Types of leases operations 

During the development of lease in market economies, two basic types of leases were 

created - financial and operating. The criterion for their differentiation (which has a 

number of practical implications) is primarily the extent of transferring owner and user 

risks from the lessor company to the lessee. Another assumptive distinguishing 

criterion is the prospect of transferring the ownership of the lease object to the 

beneficiary as well as the length of the lease operation (Benda, 2006). 

3.3 Czech accounting legislation 

Czech accounting legislation when capturing leases operations is based on the legal 

ownership of the subject of the lease, not the economic ownership. This way of 

viewing is criticised by many experts and called after the change because it does not 

display a true image of the entity. According to Czech legislation, the lessee reports 

the subject of a lease only in the Off-Balance Sheet, namely in the valuation in which 

the property is valued in the lessor's accounting for the subject of the lease. During the 

lease term, individual accrued lease payments are recognised as a liability to the lessor, 

and these instalments are reported on the relevant cost account. The total liability 

resulting from the lease agreement is reported only in the Off-Balance Sheet of the 

lessee. It follows from the preceding sentences that the right to depreciate the subject 

of the lease remains by Czech accounting regulations to the lessor. Upon the expiration 

of the lease term, the lessee may use the option to transfer the property to its ownership 

and recognise it in its bookkeeping at the amount of the net asset value. However, if 

the net asset value is zero, an asset is recognised through the reproduction cost 

(Bartůňková, 2012). 
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The concept of financial leases is marginally mentioned in the current Regulation No. 

563/1991 Coll. Act on Accounting, especially in the Methods of Valuation, 

specifically in Section 28. This paragraph is especially crucial for depreciation of 

assets. In § 28 paragraph 1 states that "entities which have the right of ownership or 

other rights to property, or which manages state property, or the property of local 

government units unless specified otherwise, they are accounted for and depreciated 

in compliance with accounting methods." 

 

Lease transactions specifically refer to Section 28, paragraph 2, which states that "The 

asset referred to in paragraph 1 is written off by an entity that gives it to the other 

person for a fee or free of charge, in particular on the basis of a lease or a loan 

agreement." Furthermore, the lease is mentioned in § 28 paragraph 3: "The asset 

referred to in paragraph 1 depreciates the accounting entity which provides it to 

another person for use on a finance lease agreement which, for the purposes of this 

Act, provides for the provision of property for consideration for use if the user is 

entitled or required, during or after the use of the property, to obtain license to the 

property provided" (Regulation No. 563, 2018). 

3.3.1 Financial leases 

Payments acquired by users of tangible assets for the payment of finance leases are 

charged to the expense account - Services. The asset must be recognised only on off-

Balance Sheet accounts throughout the lease term. It is the entity's responsibility to 

book the payment in the form of accrual. This means that only the part of the 

remuneration, that is for the period can be applied to the current accounting period. In 

cases where the payment is paid in advance, an accountant can use the account - 

Deferred Expenses, if the payment is paid back, then use the Accrued Expense 

account. Accounting transactions are executed on the basis of individual invoices or 

payment schedules (Vlach, 2016). 

 

The regulation of financial leases on the part of the leaser is less significant. For the 

duration of the contractual relationship, the leaser is still the owner of the asset. He/she 

should account for this asset in his books until it is disposed of, that means until it is 
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sold. The pay-out, payable to this leaser for the duration of the finance lease is the 

revenue that must be accrued over that period in a manner similar to that of the 

operating lease. The leaser also depreciates the property in question for the duration 

of the finance lease (Vlach, 2016). 

 

As already mentioned, after the lease contract expires, the subject of the finance lease 

is transferred by the lessor to the lessee's ownership. The lessee captures the subject 

matter of the lease contract in its assets, namely in the valuation of the amount of the 

residual value for which the subject of the lease is transferred to the lessee. If the 

residual cost is equal to zero, the lessee will measure the asset at its replacement cost 

and enter the net book value (asset against repairs) into the accounting as this item is 

no longer depreciated. In the remaining cases, the asset is valued at the acquisition 

cost, but while considering the fair representation of the asset. Leaseholder recognises 

the asset as a fixed asset or as an inventory (tangible assets) or recognises it as an 

expense (intangible asset). If the asset is reported as not yet depreciated long-term 

asset, the entity depreciates it in accordance with the depreciation plan. If the market 

price of an asset is significantly higher than its estimated value recognised in the 

entity's accounting books, it should refer to this in the appendix to the financial 

statements. In the case of operating leases after the lease contract, ownership of the 

leased good from the lessor to the lessee does not pass. The subject of the lease remains 

in the ownership of the lease company, or the company may sell the subject of the 

lease to another entity (Benda, 2006). 

 

3.3.2 Operating leases 

An operating lease is usually a short-term transaction, so it is not so complicated in 

terms of booking. The rent that belongs to the lessee represents, on the lessee side, 

accrued expense over the term of the lease. The leaser conducts leased property in its 

bookkeeping throughout the lease cycle and depreciates that asset. The rent due to him 

according to the lease agreement is revenue that is accrued over the lease term (Vlach, 

2016). 
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3.4 International accounting standards 

International Accounting Harmonization represents the approximation and unification 

of methods, procedures and structures used in national accounting in order to achieve 

transparency and mutual comparability of financial statements. Harmonisation of 

accounting and leases takes place in particular through: 

- Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), 

- The Convention on International Financial Leasing, 

- Council Directive of the European Community, 

- International Accounting Standards (IAS 17), replaced by International financial 

reporting standards (IFRS 16). 

 

International Accounting Standards are a set of standards issued to explain the 

preparation and presentation of financial statements by companies. International 

Accounting Standards are a set of standards issued to explain the companies' 

preparation and presentation of financial statements. The most recognised 

international accounting standards include the US GAAP standards issued by the 

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), the International Accounting 

Standards (IASC) IAS standards and the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) standards in more than 100 countries (Bohušová, 2015). 

 

Following IFRS, most of them still have the form of International Accounting 

Standards (IAS) issued between 1973 and 2001 by the IASC Committee. On 1 April 

2001, the International Accounting Standards Board replaced the Committee, which 

since then publishes new standards called International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). 

 

As part of this issue, it is also necessary to mention so-called interpretations. 

Interpretations of SIC and IFRIC can be seen. Interpretations of the SIC were issued 

by the Standing Interpretation Committee (SIC), and in 2002 this Committee replaced 

the IFRS Interpretation Committee, which issues new interpretations of the IFRIC. 

Interpretations are an essential part of international accounting standards. 
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3.4.1 Leases and importance of leases financing 

The International Accounting Standards defines the lease as "a contract in which the 

lessor provides the lessee with the right to use an asset for a fixed period for one 

disposable payment or a series of instalments" (Strouhal, 2014). 

 

The lease is one of the methods of financing purchases for corporations. Corporations 

may finance their purchases from equity or other sources. The most popular external 

sources that can be used for investment funding include bank loans and leases. While 

selecting among these two options, corporations must consider all the pros and cons 

as well as their financial capacities. Concerning companies, three areas are critical in 

this decision, particularly the legislative complexity and the right to dispose of the 

assets, the tax consequences and the financial difficulty of the acquisition. 

 

The advantage of leases financing is that organisations do not need to obtain the asset 

but may only rent it or purchase it after the contract. Nevertheless, some companies 

use leases financing for different purposes as well. The most significant is the 

opportunity to cover the debt in the case of operating leases. This lease does not arise 

on the Balance Sheet but is recognised only in the notes to the financial statements. 

Off-Balance-Sheet funding significantly affects the crucial financial indicators used 

by shareholders and investors as the source of information on which they base their 

conclusions. 

 

Companies favour operating leases to cover potential liabilities, respectively. 

Underestimate financial leverage. Companies purposefully adjust the terms of leases 

contracts to satisfy their needs so that these contractual responsibilities are not 

obligated to be reported on the Balance Sheet. Companies use operating leases to 

acquire the right to use the asset without acquiring ownership rights (Bohušová, 2015). 

 

Companies use operating leases to purposely cover liabilities to investors in order to 

achieve a more profitable net profit and influence key financial asset performance 

indicators (for example, current liquidity ratios, debt ratios, asset profitability, and so 

on) (Duke, Hsieh and Su, 2006). 
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3.4.2 Leases types 

The current adaptation of international standards distinguishes two types of leases. 

This is a financial and operating lease. 

 

IAS 17 defines a financial lease as "a lease that shifts all tangible risks and rewards 

associated with the ownership of the asset". Additionally, leases are classified as 

financial, regardless of whether at the end of the contract the owner of the property or 

asset will be changed. The right that ownership will be transferred may or may not 

occur at the end of the lease (Dvořáková, 2014). 

 

Operating leases are referred to in IAS 17 as "any other lease other than a finance 

lease". (Dvořáková, 2014) also gives examples of possible benefits and risks 

associated with the asset that the lessee takes under the financial lease. 

 

The classification of leases is crucial for the company and their reporting because both 

of the types the organisation is forced to report differently. When the company reports 

under the current IAS 17 standard, the lessee must report the financial lease on the 

Balance Sheet, and the company recognises a lease asset and a lease liability on the 

Balance Sheet. Operating lease, on the other hand, appears only in the notes to the 

financial statements as it is an Off-Balance Sheet item. 

 

The lessee is able to see the differences between the two main types of leases - financial 

and operating as the Profit and Loss statement reflects them. The company, that 

purchases the financial lease has to report it in this statement in the form of interest on 

lease instalments and write-offs of assets. However, the company reports operating 

leases in the Profit and Loss Statement directly in the form of single lease instalments 

aggregating one lease payment, usually in a continuous manner. 

3.4.3 History of leases in IAS / IFRS and development of the new standard 

In the 1980s the first draft of the lease standard was issued, introduced to as the E19 

working draft. In 1984 the first "IAS 17 Accounting for Leases" standard came into 

force. The standard was firstly published already in September 1982. Over the years, 

new issues have emerged, and the International standards had to deal with them. It is 
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the reason, for the continual standards revisions. IAS 17 had to be three times 

amendment, firstly in 1997 (preceded by E56, came into force in 1999), secondly in 

2003 (active from 2005) and lastly in 2009 (valid as of 2010). After these three 

adjustments, there was a need almost entirely to change the International accounting 

standards. It started the creation of a new international standard. 

 

However, the issue of leases is not covered by international standards only in the 

standard itself but is also covered by three interpretations. The following 

interpretations, as well as IAS 17 itself, will, however, be replaced by IAS (IAS 2016b) 

in 2019 by the new IFRS 16: 

- IFRIC 4 - Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease, 

- SIC 15 - Operating Leases, 

- SIC 27 - Valuation of the nature of transactions in a legal form of a lease ("Evaluation 

of the substance of transactions in the legal form of a lease"). 

 

IASC issued interpretation SIC 15 in July 1999, SIC 27 in December 2001, IFRIC 4 

was issued by the IASB in December 2004 (Muthupandian, 2009). 

3.4.4 IAS 17 

The objective of this Standard is to provide the lessee and landlord with appropriate 

accounting policies and disclosures used in relation to leases. The Standard applies to 

contracts that transfer the right to use assets from one Party to the other, even if the 

lessor is required to provide basic services related to the operation or maintenance of 

those assets. The standard does not apply to contractual arrangements where the right 

of use of the lessor's assets is not transferred to the lessee. IAS 17 applies to the 

reporting of all types of leases, except for the leasing of assets for exploration or use 

of mineral deposits, oil, natural gas and similar non-renewable resources, and leasing 

of license agreements for films, videos, games, manuscripts, patents and copyrights. 

Furthermore, this Standard does not apply as a basis for valuation of real estate held 

by lessees that are accounted for under IAS 40 Investment Property, Property 

Investment Leased under Operating Leases, and biological assets provided to lessors 

under a finance or operating lease (IASB, 2010). 
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The lease under IAS 17 is defined as a contract in which the lessor provides the lessee 

with the right to use the asset for a fixed period of time for a one-off payment or a 

series of payments. The Standard defines two types of leasing - financial and 

operational. Leasing is a contract that involves the transfer of all significant risks and 

rewards associated with the ownership of the asset. At the end of the lease relationship, 

the ownership of the asset from the lessor to the lessee may or may not be transferred. 

Operative leasing is a lease that does not meet the criteria of a finance lease. The 

beginning of a lease is usually considered as the moment when the lease is closed. To 

this it is necessary to assess what type of leasing is involved, i.e. classify leases as 

financial or operational. If the lease is classified as a finance lease, the lessee must 

additionally carry out the measurement of the leased asset and the related liability 

under the terms and conditions applicable at the inception of the lease. The beginning 

of the lease term is the period from which the lessee is entitled to exercise his rights 

over the leased property. In the case of a finance lease, it is also the initial recognition 

of the leased asset and the lease liability in the lessee's balance sheet according to the 

valuation made at the inception of the lease, which in effect means the beginning of 

the asset depreciation period and the amortisation of the finance lease liability. For 

operating leases, this is the date on which income is recognised initially, leasing costs 

resulting. The initial measurement of an asset and liability is measured at the lower of 

the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, 

including any related acquisition costs. Fair value is the amount for which the two 

parties are, under normal conditions, able and willing to exchange the asset. Minimum 

lease payments are payments that the lessor requires the lessee to pay to the tenant 

during the lease term (IASB, 2010). 

 

Leasing classification is made at the beginning of the lease. Leases are classified as 

finance leases whenever the tenant transferred all significant risks (e.g. The potential 

loss from idle capacity or technological obsolescence of assets) and rewards (the use 

of the asset in the business, increasing the value of assets or profits from potential 

sales) resulting from the ownership of assets. If not all the significant risks and rewards 

of ownership are transferred, the lease is classified as operating. When deciding 

between financial and operating leases, it is not only about the contract but also the 
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nature of the transaction. IAS 17 lists the criteria by which a finance lease is to be 

classified as a finance lease: 

-  Transfer ownership of the subject of the lease to the lessee at the end of the lease 

term, 

-  the lessee has the right to purchase the asset at a price that is expected to be 

substantially lower than the fair value of the asset at the date of use of that right, 

and it can be assumed with certainty that the lessee will utilize the option of the 

redemption, 

-  the lease term covers a substantial part of the economic life of the asset even if there 

is no transfer of ownership (the economic life of the asset means the period during 

which the asset will be economically viable or the expected number of products that 

can be acquired from the asset) 

-  At the inception of the lease, the present value of the minimum lease payments is at 

least equal to the fair value of the asset, 

-  Leased assets are so specific that only the lessee can use them without significant 

adjustments. 

 

Except for these criteria, there are so-called indicators that support the classification 

of financial leasing: 

-  if the lessee terminates the lease, the Lessor's losses associated with its termination 

go to the lessee's account, 

-  The lessee bears profits or losses caused by changes in the fair value of the residual 

value, 

-  The tenant has the option to continue renting for a period that is considerably lower 

than the market valuation. 

 

Any lease that does not meet some of the criteria or indicators of a finance lease should 

be classified as an operating lease (IASB, 2010). 

 

In the case of a finance lease, the lessee has to recognise in the balance sheet the leased 

asset as an asset in the balance sheet at the inception of the lease term and, at the same 

time, the liability for future lease payments on a short-term and long-term balance. 

Both of these items are stated at the amount that is recognised at the inception of the 
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lease - at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the 

minimum lease payments. The lessee's additional acquisition costs are considered as 

part of the asset's valuation. 

 

During the finance lease period, lessees incur costs in the form of write-offs (in the 

case of a depreciable asset) in each financial year, with the depreciation policy of the 

leased assets being the same as for other assets owned by the lessee. If there is 

sufficient certainty that at the end of the lease term the ownership of the asset moves 

from the lessor to the lessee, the useful life of the asset is the expected depreciation 

period. In another case, the asset must be entirely written off during the lease term or 

over the useful life, whichever is the shorter. During the lease term, the liability is 

amortised using the effective interest rate. It is unlikely that write-offs would be equal 

to the lease payments payable over a given period; therefore, after the start of the lease 

term, the asset is not usually similar to the lease liability. The lessee has an obligation 

to disclose in the financial statements relevant information for financial leases, such 

as the book value of all classes of assets at the end of the accounting period, or a 

comparison of the difference between the sum of future minimum lease payments at 

the end of the period and their current value. Besides, the aggregate of future minimum 

lease payments at the end of the period and their current values for each of the 

following periods shall be disclosed: 

- within one year, 

- from one year to five years, 

- over five years. 

 

In the case of operating leases, the lessee's lease payments are reported as an expense 

equally throughout the lease term or on another systematic basis. Operative leasing 

does not enter into the balance sheet, except in the statement of comprehensive income. 

However, the essential information must be described in the Annex. The lessee is 

required to disclose in the financial statements the summary of future minimum lease 

payments for non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods: 

- within one year, 

- from one year to five years, 

- over five years. 
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Assets held under finance leases shall be recognised by the lessor in the balance sheet 

as receivables as a breakdown of short-term and long-term balances. The initial 

measurement of a financial lease receivable is measured at a lower of the fair value or 

present value of the minimum lease payments. Initial direct costs incurred by the lessor 

in connection with the conclusion of the lease are part of the initial measurement of 

finance lease receivables. 

 

During the lease term, the receivable is amortised using the effective interest rate. 

Lease payments for a given period are charged against a gross investment in the lease 

as a reduction in principal and unrealised financial income from the contract. 

 

It is not only for the lessee but also for the lessor that it is required to disclose some 

information related to the finance lease, for example, comparing the difference 

between the gross investment in the lease and the present value of the minimum lease 

payments receivable at the end of the accounting period. In addition, it shall disclose 

the gross investment in the lease and the present value of the minimum lease payments 

receivables at the end of the accounting period for each of the following periods: 

- within one year, 

- from one year to five years, 

- over five years. 

 

Disclosed information also includes unrealised financial income and accumulated 

provisions for bad debts from minimum lease payments. 

 

Landlords report assets subject to operating leases on the balance sheet according to 

the nature of the asset. For the duration of the lease, the rent is charged evenly to 

income as a profit-earning item. The direct initial costs incurred by the lessor to 

conclude a lease increase the carrying amount of the leased asset and are amortised 

over the lease term as well as the lease income. Costs, including depreciation that is 

required to finance lease income, are recognised as an expense for the lessor. The 

depreciation policy for leased assets must be consistent with the amortisation of similar 

assets for the lessor. Like the lessee, the lessor also has an obligation to disclose a 
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summary of future minimum lease payments from non-cancellable operating leases 

for each of the following periods: 

- within one year, 

- from one year to five years, 

- over five years (IASB, 2010). 

3.5 IFRS 16 

In early 2016, the new International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 16 Leases 

entered into force, which will be mandatory for all entities that manage their IFRS 

accounting, for the first time for accounting periods beginning on January 1, 2019. 

From this date, IFRS 16 will replace the current IAS 17 and its related IFRIC 4, SIC-

5 and SIC-27 interpretations. (Dvořáková, 2017) The Company may choose to apply 

the new standard before this date, but only if it applies IFRS 15 Revenue from 

Customer Agreements at the same time. 

 

IFRS 16 lays down rules for the accounting for the capture, reporting and disclosure 

of leases. It aims to ensure that tenants and landlords provide relevant information in 

a manner that faithfully and honestly recognises leasing transactions. This information 

is the basis for the users of the financial statements to assess the impact of the lease on 

the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the company. An entity 

is required to apply IFRS 16 to all lease agreements, including the right to use sublet, 

except: 

-   leases for exploration or use of minerals, oil, natural gas and other non-renewable 

resources, 

-   leases of biological assets within the scope of IAS 41 Agriculture, 

-  Providing licensed services within the scope of IFRIC 12 Provision of Licensed 

Services, 

-   licensing of intellectual property in the scope of IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts 

with customers and 

-   leasing of rights in the scope of IAS 38 Intangible assets on items such as movies, 

videos, games, manuscripts, patents, or copyrights (IASB, 2016a). 
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3.5.1 The aim of the new standard  

In July 2006, the IASB, together with the FASB, started to work on a new project on 

future leasing reporting. This project was part of the convergence between the two 

Councils. The aim of the project was to create a common leasing standard that sets out 

the principles applicable to both the lessor and the lessee in order to provide relevant 

leasing information in a way that faithfully represents these transactions. The first step 

towards this goal was the publication of a discussion paper in 2009. The project was 

completed in January 2016, when a new standard of IFRS 16 Leases was published 

(IASB, 2009a). 

 

The primary purpose of the new standard was to make the reporting of the assets and 

liabilities in the financial statements more faithful and transparent. The councils also 

wanted to improve comparability of leases institutions and companies that lend the 

money to financial institutions. Shareholders, investors, rating agencies and merely all 

of the financial statements users will not be forced to modify the information when 

deciding on the company regarding the financial statements, or at least this force will 

be significantly reduced by the implementation of the new IFRS 16 standard (IASB, 

2016b). 

 

3.5.2 Exceptions to standard application 

The new standard specifies two exceptions where the lessee can decide whether the 

lease payments are to be reported in accordance with IFRS 16 or as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term or as expected by the lessee's rental income. 

These are short-term leases (rental with a duration of fewer than twelve months and 

no asset redemption) and leases of assets of insignificant value. When assessing 

materiality, it is always based on the price of the new asset even if the leased asset is 

no longer new (IASB, 2016a). According to the IASB, we may consider an asset of an 

insignificant value as having an acquisition cost of USD 5,000 or less (IASB, 2016b). 

If the lessee decides not to apply IFRS 16, it must not be an asset that would be leased, 

and, at the same time, it must yield economic benefits independently of other assets 

(Dvořáková, 2017). 
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3.5.3 Non-cancellable lease term 

The non-cancellable lease term is the length of time the lessee or the lessor have the 

right to terminate the lease without the consent of the other party. Unilateral end of the 

lease entails a penalty for the person who terminates the leasing contract prematurely. 

Contrary to IAS 17, the permanent lease term under IFRS 16 also includes an option 

to continue or prematurely end the lease if it is probable that the option will be utilised 

by the lessee (Dvořáková, 2017). An entity should review the lease term if the non-

cancellable lease term changes. Unreasonable lease term will change if: 

- the lessee chooses to exercise an option that the entity has not included in the lease, 

- the lessee decides not to use the option previously included in determining the lease 

term, 

- an event occurs that obligates the lessee to exercise an option that was not included 

in determining the duration of the lease or 

- an event occurs that contracted the tenant to use the option already included in the 

lease term (IASB, 2016a). 

3.5.4 Leases identification 

IFRS 16 fundamentally changes the approach to the reporting of leasing contracts with 

the lessee, minor changes and complements the lease arrangement of the lessor. 

 

The basis for the standard is the precise definition of the conditions that lead to the 

determination of whether a particular contract is a leasing contract or whether it 

contains a lease. The deal is a leasing contract or contains a lease if it allows the 

transfer of the right to use the asset for a certain period for consideration. Leasing is 

defined under IFRS 16 as a contract that will enable the lessee to derive all economic 

benefits from the asset for the duration of the lease. 

 

Assessing whether the lessee has the right to draw all the significant economic benefits 

from the asset over the duration of the lease may not always be straightforward and 

unambiguous. Some lease agreements may limit the scope of use of the asset, for 

example, by setting the mileage limit or the number of machine hours to which the 

asset may be used to the maximum. If the restrictions on the total capacity of an asset 

are significant, it is not a lease but a service. 
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In some cases, it may be difficult to recognise whether a contract involves leasing or 

providing a service. In this respect, the new standard can undoubtedly be considered a 

benefit as it describes this area in great detail compared to IAS 17. IAS 17 deals with 

the question of whether the contract contains a lease, particularly in IFRIC 4. Leasing 

from service differs from the fact that the lessee acquires the right to use the asset at 

the beginning of the contract and has control over it. 

 

In order to classify a lease and distinguish it from providing a service, the crucial factor 

is the definition of the asset. An asset that is leased is always specified in the lease and 

is typically defined in the contract. According to IFRS 16, the lessor does not have a 

significant substitute right, i.e. it must not have the right to exchange the asset for 

another. The right to substitute an asset is essential if the lessor can transfer an asset 

during the lease period, and the lessee cannot prevent it from doing so, and also if it 

would benefit economically from this asset exchange. If the landlord exchanges the 

asset for another due to any damage or necessary repairs, this is not a substantial 

substitution if the tenant is unable to determine whether or not the landlord's right to 

substitute is presumed to be not (Dvořáková, 2017). 

3.5.5 Reporting in accounting 

An entity may not typically only record individual leasing contracts in its accounts, 

and it may monitor the entire portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics. This 

approach, which is not necessarily the only leasing contract that is the subject of an 

accounting presentation, is consistent with IFRS 15. However, it is a prerequisite that 

the financial statements thus prepared may not differ materially from the financial 

statements prepared on an individual basis for the individual lease contracts. By 

standard, an entity is required to combine all lease agreements entered into at the same 

time with the same supplier if at least one of the following criteria is met: 

-  the negotiated contracts are part of the overall contract whose impacts cannot be 

assessed separately, 

-  the agreed instalments in the leasing contract depend on the prices and supplies in 

the other agreements, 
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-  the rights to use the assets decided in the various contracts form one separate leasing 

component. 

 

It follows from the above criteria that economically dependent contracts must be 

considered as a whole. This option, which was not included in previous IAS 17, will 

provide, in particular, a more objective understanding of the lease agreements. 

 

Leasing agreements need to be categorised into individual leasing components, or 

components that do not constitute a leasing relationship. A separate part of a contract 

may be a right to use an asset if it benefits the entity independently of other assets and 

is not interconnected with other assets specified in the contract. If the lessee decides 

not to sell such an asset, which is a separate component at the same time, it will not 

endanger the rights to use the other assets in that contract. The total price stated in the 

contract must be subdivided into individual leasing components by an estimate of the 

amounts that would have been incurred. If the leasing components were to be 

purchased separately, and these amounts should be determined by the landlord's bid to 

independently acquire the individual leasing components or on the basis of prices of 

similar supplies. If the lessee is unable to find these prices, he should determine them 

based on market information. The division of leasing contracts into individual leasing 

components is also a novelty compared to IAS 17. This requirement allows you to 

track and measure individual components independently concerning their economic 

role within the entity. For example, if a lease contains a right to use an asset that is 

reported in accordance with IAS 40 Investment Property and the right to use an asset 

subject to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, the division of the lease allows for 

the use of consistent methods for individual components valuation with the techniques 

applied by the entity to similar assets subject to adjustment to the Standard. 

 

Part of the leasing contract may also be the provision of services. IFRS 16 states that 

these services may be reported separately or together with the leasing components. 

This enables the entity to choose a solution that is more suitable for it (Dvořáková, 

2017). 
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3.5.6 Reporting on the lessee’s side  

The scope of the new standard is broad, but it is still possible to find the points that are 

essential for users of financial statements. 

 

The most significant change compared to IAS 17 is the reporting of leases on the part 

of the lessee. If the contract is a lease contract or includes a lease, it will be reflected 

in the statement of financial position of the lessee, regardless of what type of lease it 

is, with exceptions that the standard permits directly (see chapter 3.5.2 Exceptions to 

standard application). The lessee no longer distinguishes leases to financial and 

operating. 

 

Primary valuation 

The asset (right to use the asset) is measured at the beginning of the lease term at 

acquisition cost that consists of the present value of the lease payments not paid up to 

the beginning of the lease plus the lease payments paid prior to the commencement of 

the lease and the direct initial costs associated with the lease and reduced by leased 

incentives. The valuation of the asset is further increased by the costs incurred to put 

the asset in use (transport, installation, assembly, testing) and the estimated costs of 

disposal and disposal of the asset, reclamation of the place where the asset was 

installed or, the return of the asset to the condition stated in the lease. In IAS 17, the 

exact delimitation of secondary acquisition costs was missing, and these costs are 

redefined in IFRS 16 (Dvořáková, 2017). 

 

At the beginning of the lease term, the lessee will appreciate the lease liability at the 

present value of the future lease payments not redeemed at that time. Lease payments 

included in the measurement of the lease liability as of the commencement date 

include: 

-  Fixed payments after deducting leased incentives (Fixed payments are payments that 

the lessee pays to the lessor for the right to use the underlying asset for the duration 

of the lease except for variable payments), 

-  variable payments (that part of the fees paid by the lessee to the lessor for the right 

to use the underlying asset for the duration of the lease, which differs due to changes 

in circumstances or circumstances that occurred after the date of the lease); 
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-  the amount the lessee pays for the guaranteed residual value, 

-  the cost of the call option, if there is sufficient assurance that the lessee will use the 

option, 

-  Sanctions for early termination of the lease (IASB, 2016a). 

 

The contract is subsequently discounted by the implicit interest rate or the incremental 

borrowing rate if the lessee is unable to determine the implied interest rate with 

certainty. However, the method of calculating the lease liability has changed, the 

lessee no longer has to compare the present value of future lease payments with the 

fair value of the asset, which was mandatory under IAS 17. The valuation test at the 

lower of two values is not required by IFRS 16 (Dvořáková, 2017). 

 

Subsequent valuation 

Subsequent valuation generally depends on the nature of individual leasing 

components. The lessee may recognise the rights to use in the same way as other assets 

he owns and is subject to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, or IAS 40 Investment 

Property. IFRS 16 directly states that if a lessee uses a fair value measurement for 

long-term assets under IAS 16, he may apply this valuation model also to leased assets 

that meet the definition of assets that are reported under IAS 16. The impact of the 

revaluation of these assets is also recognised under IAS 16. The same applies to 

investments if the lessee uses a fair value measurement for his investments subject to 

IAS 40 may also use fair value measurements for leased assets that meet the criteria 

in IAS 40. IFRS 16 versus IAS 17 more emphasises valuation of individual leasing 

components concerning the expected benefit that leased assets bring to the entity, 

thereby increasing the unified reporting of assets on the Balance Sheet. 

 

The right to use is depreciated in the same way as other long-term assets that fall under 

the scope of IAS 16 over the life of the asset or the duration of the lease. If the 

ownership of the underlying asset from the lessor to the lessee occurs at the end of the 

lease, the asset should be depreciated over its useful life. However, if the underlying 

asset is returned to the lessor at the end of the lease, it should be depreciated over the 

shorter of the asset's life or lease term. The rental right is subject to impairment testing 

following IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, which requires assets to be tested only if 
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specific indications would impair the value of those assets (except goodwill and 

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives life, which is directed by its standards). 

 

The lease liability is subsequently increased over the lease term by unpaid interest 

calculated on the basis of the implicit interest rate, incremental borrowing rates and 

reduced by lease payments made. The interest rate is generally unchanged during the 

lease, the change would occur only in the case of a revision of the interest rate due to 

a change in the lease contract, for example, when the lease term was changed or a 

decision to apply or not to exercise the option to buy the underlying asset. The interest 

that is regularly charged on the lease is the lessee's expense. Also, variable payments 

paid by the lessee in connection with the lease and not included in the lease payments 

(unless they are part of the value of another asset) are included in costs. 

 

The basis for the measurement of the lease liability in IFRS 16 has not substantially 

changed compared to IAS 17. However, the standard now introduces the obligation to 

revaluation the lease liability (Dvořáková, 2017). During the lease term, the entity 

should adjust the amount of the lease liability to reflect changes in the lease payments. 

The lease obligation is to be recalculated following IFRS 16 if the guaranteed residual 

value or interest rate changes. The lessee recognises the amount of the revaluation of 

the liability as a correction of the value of the right of use. If the amount of the 

revaluation reduction is greater than the carrying amount of the use right, the cost of 

the right is reduced to zero, and the remaining part of the revaluation is recognised as 

income in the statement of comprehensive income (IASB, 2016a). 

 

Reporting in the financial statements 

In the lessee's Balance Sheet, the lessee recognises the right to use either as a new asset 

class as a "right of use" or includes it among the assets in which the leased asset would 

be covered if it had been purchased and owned by the lessee. If the lessee recognises 

the lease rights together with the other assets, they must provide information about 

their value in the notes on all asset items in which the rental rights are included. 

However, this does not apply to the rights of use that meet the definition of assets 

under IAS 40, which must always be recognised as an investment property. A lease 

liability may be presented either separately from other obligations or together with the 
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explanation in the notes of the commitments in the Balance Sheet of the liability for 

the lease. Lease costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part 

of the finance cost. In the statement of comprehensive income, it also recognises 

depreciation as part of depreciation when considering the general or purposeful cost 

breakdown. In the statement of cash flows, the lessee shall recognise the lease 

payments under cash flows from financing activities, interest paid on lease liabilities 

following the requirements of IAS 7 Cash Flow Statement for Interest Rates in 

Financial or Operating Activities. The rental Leases subject to IFRS 16 (Short-term 

Leases and Leases of Low-Value Assets) within cash flows from operating activities 

(Dvořáková, 2017). In the financial statements, the following information should be 

disclosed in separate sections if they are not already present in another location: 

-   the nature of the leasing contracts, 

-   depreciation of rights of use by classes of underlying assets, 

-   interest expense from leasing liabilities, 

-  costs arising from short-term leases except for lease payments for one month and 

shorter, 

-   costs associated with leases of insignificant value, 

-  the cost of variable payments that are not part of the measurement of the lease 

liability, 

-   proceeds from the subletting of rights of use, 

-   the total monetary expense incurred in connection with the leasing, 

-   Additions to rights of use, 

-   gains or losses on sale and leaseback transactions, 

-  the amount of the rights-to-use at the end of the period divided into classes of 

individual underlying assets, 

-   analysing the maturity of the lease liabilities separately from other liabilities, 

-  future cash flows that are not reflected in the measurement of the lease liability 

(IASB, 2016a). 

 

If the right to use meet the definition of assets subject to IAS 40, the lessee must also 

disclose information under this Standard. If an entity revalues rights to use on a fair 

value basis, it must provide users of the financial statements with revaluation 

information in accordance with IAS 16: revaluation date, whether an independent 
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expert has determined the revaluation for each asset group, prices and revaluation. An 

entity also needs to state whether it uses the right not to disclose information about 

short-term rentals or rentals of assets of insignificant value (Dvořáková, 2017). 

3.5.6 Reporting on the lessor’s side  

The arrangement for the lessee's leases under IFRS 16 has been taken over from IAS 

17. The lessor will still have to distinguish each contract for an operating or financial 

lease. A lease is classified as a financial lease if all the risks and rewards resulting from 

the ownership of the underlying asset are transferred to the lessee. Otherwise, leasing 

is considered as operating. Criteria and indicators to determine the type of a lease under 

IAS 17 are still valid. Classification of the lease is made at the inception of the lease 

term and is reassessed only if the lease contract is changed. Changing the estimated 

economic useful life or the residual value of the underlying does not give rise to a new 

lease classification. 

 

At the date of the lease, the lessor in the balance sheet recognises an asset held under 

finance leases as a receivable in the amount of a net investment in the lease. To 

determine the net investment in the lease, the lessor uses the implicit interest rate. 

Direct initial costs are part of the initial measurement of net investment in the lease 

and reduce the amount of revenue reported during the lease term. The implicit interest 

rate is set so that direct initial costs are automatically included in the net investment in 

the lease. Part of the net investment in the lease is the initial measurement of the lease 

payments, which consists of the following payments for the right to use the underlying 

asset during the lease period and which were not paid before the date of 

commencement: 

- fixed payments reduced by leasing incentives, 

- variable payments, 

- guaranteed residual values, 

- purchase options and 

- a penalty for early termination of the lease. 

 

During the lease term, the receivable is amortised using the implicit interest rate, and 

the lessor reports a financial income on a systematic basis. Lease payments related to 
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the accounting period reduce the gross investment in the lease - the principal and the 

unpaid lease yield interest. The landlord should periodically review the estimated 

unguaranteed residual value. If it reduces, it should adjust the revenue distribution over 

the lease term. 

 

The Lessor has to disclose the following information in the financial statements for 

the year: 

-   the nature of the leasing contracts, 

-   sales profit or loss, 

-   financial income from the net investment in the lease and 

-  income from variable payments that were not included in the calculation of net 

investment in the lease. 

 

The Lessor should further provide an explanation for significant changes in the 

carrying amount of the net investment in the lease. It is also a requirement to publish 

a maturity analysis of receivables showing undeclared lease payments to be received 

each year for at least the first five years and the total for the remaining years. 

 

Lease payments from operating leases are reported as income for the lessor regularly 

over the lease term or on another systematic basis. The underlying asset subject to 

operating leases is recognised in the balance sheet by reference to the type of asset. 

Initial direct costs increase the carrying amount of the underlying asset and are 

identified in expenses over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

Underlying assets under operating leases are depreciated by the lessor's depreciation 

policy for similar assets. Depreciation is calculated in accordance with IAS 16 or IAS 

38. Testing of underlying impairment assets is performed following IAS 36. 

 

The lessor's financial statements must disclose information about the nature of the 

lease agreements and the value of the lease income. For items of property, plant and 

equipment, disclosure requirements apply under IAS 16, according to which the lessor 

should divide each class of land, plant and equipment into assets that are subject to 

operating leases and which are not the subject of operating leases. Accordingly, the 

required information under IAS 16 on assets subject to operating leases must be 
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recognised separately from other assets held and used by the lessor. The Lessor has to 

disclose a maturity analysis of receivables showing undeclared lease payments to be 

received each year for at least the first five years and the total for the remaining years 

(IASB, 2016a). 

3.5.7 Project Summary and Expected Changes 

The new IFRS 16 will have a significant impact on businesses. The impact of its 

implementation on financial statements and selected financial indicators will be 

quantified in the following chapters, but the overall impact will be in many areas. 

 

Before the issue of new standards or modifications to existing ones, the IASB 

considers the pros and cons of the new requirements. One of the main goals of the 

development of accounting standards is to streamline the allocation of capital, and the 

IASB, therefore, takes into account, in particular, the benefits of better economic 

decision-making stemming from high-quality financial reporting. The preview of the 

likely impact of new or revised IASB standards is gained through its published 

proposals and their consultation with stakeholders. In order to change its lease 

reporting, it has held three public discussions on its proposals since 2009, has received 

more than 1,700 comments and has attended hundreds of meetings with advisory 

bodies, investors, analysts, standards makers, accountants and others. 

 

The IASB concluded that the benefits of the new standard would exceed the cost of its 

implementation. The greatest benefit of IFRS 16 will be a more faithful representation 

of companies' assets and liabilities and greater transparency in their financial situation. 

In particular, it is expected to reduce the need for adjustments in the amounts reported 

by investors and analysts and to improve the comparability between the companies 

that lease the assets and the borrowing companies. Investors' decision-making on the 

basis of new information should result in a better allocation of capital by allocating 

loans and investments. Implementation costs will depend on the size of the company's 

leasing portfolio. The IASB expects that companies with operating leases will have to 

incur the cost of introducing new systems, including employee training and 

determining the discount rate used to measure leasing assets and liabilities on a current 

value basis (IASB, 2016b). 
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3.6 Differences between IFRS and Czech accounting legislation 

Differences are for the leases accounting on the lessee's side. From the point of view 

of IFRS, the asset and future lease payments for finance leases are recognised as a 

liability. The lessee depreciates the property for the entire period of its useful life or 

for the duration of the lease if there is no certainty that the ownership of the property 

will be transferred to the lessee at the end of the contractual relationship. For 

calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments, the lessee uses the 

implicit interest rate or the incremental borrowing rate. Payments are spread evenly to 

achieve a constant interest rate for the entire outstanding liability (Epstein and 

Jermiakowicz, 2008). 

 

According to the Czech accounting legislation, both financial and operating leases are 

charged to the lessee equally and are reflected in costs evenly over the life of the lease. 

Upon the transfer of ownership of the property to the lessee, it is recognised in the 

lessee's book value at amortised cost (Valouch, 2012). The charging of operating 

leases of the lessee does not show any differences, and the rent is charged evenly over 

the life of the lease under the Czech as well as International accounting standards. As 

with the landlord and the incentives for the tenant, there are differences (Krupová, 

2009). Lease incentives for the lessee are primarily reflected in IFRSs as the motivator 

of the tenants for the renegotiation of the lease. The tenant reports the total benefit 

from the incentives as a reduction in the rent. The incentive is amortised linearly, in 

the absence of a better way of expressing the development of the benefit resulting from 

the use of a property. Czech accounting legislation do not address this issue and do not 

exist in these regulations (Dvořáková, 2017). 

3.7 Financial indicators 

Financial indicators can be considered as one of the most critical parts of the financial 

analysis. This analysis helps companies diagnose their financial condition, identify 

deviations from the required parameters, analyse the causes of their occurrence, and 

define the concrete measures needed to meet the objectives set (Marinič, 2008). 

Although the Company's financial statements are the primary source of data for index 

calculations, this data can be obtained from other sources as well. For example, 
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company statistics, economic indicators, or capital market indicators are used. The 

results obtained most often serve shareholders, corporate management, creditors, 

customers, potential investors, and analysts (Bonaci, 2014).  

 

When comparing the financial indicators, however, we look not only at the result itself 

but also on the magnitude of the change in the values of the variables to be compared, 

the causes of the changes and the intensity of these changes to the final result of the 

indicator (Marinič, 2009). 

 

Although it is clear that the implementation of IFRS 16 will, in effect, affect many 

financial indicators, the impact will be quantified in this work on selected key 

indicators of liquidity, profitability and indebtedness. Their list is listed in the table 

below. 

 
Table 1: Selected financial indicators 

Financial indicator Financial indicator formula 

Return on assets (ROA) EBIT/Total assets 

Current ratio Current assets/Current liabilities 

Total debt to total assets Total debt/total assets 

Shareholder equity ratio Total shareholder equity/Total assets 

Debt/Equity ratio Total liabilities/Shareholder’s equity  
Source: self-processed, https://www.investopedia.com/university/ratios/ 

 

Already when looking at the formulas for calculating these indicators, it is possible to 

estimate their expected changes. When calculating the return on assets, both EBIT and 

total assets increase. Asset profitability could theoretically change in both directions, 

but it is generally expected to decrease. The current liquidity ratio may be expected to 

decrease due to the increase in short-term liabilities, while the value of total 

indebtedness should increase. For the self-financing factor, due to the increase in total 

assets, it is expected that it will decrease, while the level of equity debt should increase 

with the growing liabilities.  

 

The previous chapters lead to the consequences of distortion of financial indicators by 

off-Balance Sheet reporting of leases. Since the capitalisation of leases will affect the 

individual items of the Balance Sheet, which also enter the calculations of some 

financial indicators, the results of these indicators should be more realistic. 

https://www.investopedia.com/university/ratios/
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4 Practical Part 

Firstly, the practical part briefly describes the selected company. Secondly, four 

different situations of the implementation of IFRS 16 are illustrated on three concrete 

company’s lease contracts. The first situation is the most common example of lease 

contract in the Czech Republic, which is an operating lease of a car. The second 

situation describes the differences in booking of the concrete lease contract according 

to the Czech as well as International accounting standards. The third situation relates 

to the second one because it shows totally different approach of booking has to be used 

even when there is a small change in the acquisition prices of the leased assets. The 

final situation describes the differences of valuation and recording of the financial 

lease according to Czech accounting legislation and IFRS 16. 

 

The changes on the Balance Sheet and the Profit and Loss Statement caused by the 

whole implementation of the new International standard are showed and explained in 

the next chapter of the practical part. 

4.1 Selected company 

An ABC limited liability company that operates in the Czech Republic was selected. 

The company has been in the market since 1956 and was bought by a German company 

in 2018. Therefore, they have to report the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss 

Statement not only according to Czech accounting legislation but from the 1 January 

2019 report according to IFRS 16 as well. Average recalculated headcount during 

2018 accounting period was two hundred and eighty-three employees. The chart below 

shows the companies structure: 
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Since the company will have to report the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Statement 

from the 1 January 2019, they have to analyse all of the contracts the company has and 

decide which of them they will have to report as leases according to IFRS 16.  

4.2 ABC leases contracts according to IFRS 16 

This chapter is going to describe and evaluate some of the ABC company’s leases 

contracts according to IFRS 16. Three examples of the current financial leases were 

chosen, that the ABC company reports. Because of the agreement with the company 

and the General Data Protection Regulation, author had to cover all of the sensitive 

content in the contracts, that could lead a reader of the diploma thesis to the real 

participants on these leases. In this chapter, it is possible to see the first page of the 

contracts, and the whole documents are attached in the appendix. The arrangements 

are in the Czech language as the company has its production in the Czech Republic. 

Therefore, they cooperate with other local suppliers. 

 

1st Situation 

The first contract is for financial lease of a car. The contract with all of the attachment 

documents can be found in appendix as an Attachment number 1. The object of the 

contract is a car Škoda Superb kombi. The agreement was signed on 18 April 2016 for 

36 months. It is written in the Terms and conditions of the lease (that is not attached 

Executive Officer 

 

Financial and HR Director 

(Proxy) 

 

Finance – controlling 

IT Department 

HR Department 

Operations 

Research and Development (R&D) 
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in the appendix because it is a document of 23 pages) that the contract is non-

cancellable. The Czech Accounting legislation denotes this contract as an operating 

lease, due to the fact, that the ABC company does not have the right to buy the car 

after the contract expires. Therefore, according to Czech legislation, the accountant 

has to calculate the total monthly instalment and recognise it in Profit and Loss 

Statement as an expense every month for three years and as a monthly increase of 

liability on the Balance Sheet. 

Picture 1: Leases contract concerning a car 

 

Číslo: 957797

na straně poskytovatele leasingu jako "společnost"

Klient Číslo klienta: xxx

Jméno a 

příjmení/Název firmy: xxx IČ/RČ/datum narození: xxx

Bydliště/sídlo/místo: xxx Dič xxx

Název a sídlo banky: xxx Číslo účtu: xxx

Zastoupený:

Jméno a příjmen: xxx

Rodné číslo: xxx

Číslo OP/pasu: xxx

Předmětné vozidlo

Typ/model:

Nové/ojeté: Nové Druh: Osobní automobily

Barva vozu: Šedá metalická Obsah motoru (ccm)/výkon (kW): 1968/140

Výbava:

Řidič:

Způsob užití:

Podmínky smlouvy Cenové podmínky

Varianta kalkulace: TOP Měna: Kč

Doba leasingu 36 měsíců Měsíční leasingová splátka bez DPH: 16 962,22

Počet km za rok: 30000 DPH: 3 562,07

Počet km za dobu 

leasingu: 90000 Měsíční leasingová splátka vč. DPH: 20 524,29
Volná hranice km za 

dobu leasingu: 5000

Perioda pro 

vyúčtování služeb: kalendářní rok

Sazba za každý přejetý km (bez 

DPH): 2,95

Lhůta pro hlášení 

stavu km: na vyžádání

Sazba za každý nedojetý km (bez 

DPH) 2,95

Práva a povinnosti smluvních stran

V xxx Dne 18.04.2016 V xxx Dne 18.04.2016

Společnost: xxx Klient: xxx

Nedílnou součástí této Smlouvy popisující práva a povinnosti smluvních stran jsou:

c) Protokol o předání a převzetí předmětu leasingu

b) Obchodní podmínky smlouvy o operativním leasingu verze OPOLVSR1601

a) Příloha č. 1 obsahující rozsah služeb sjednaných v této Smlouvě

Práva a povinnosti vyplývající z této Smlouvy se řídí Obchodními podmínkami smlouvy o 

operativním leasingu společností xxx, které tvoří přílohu této smlouvy. Klient současně prohlašuje, že 

se s výše uvedenými Obchodními podmínkami smlouvy o operativním leasingu společnosti xxx před 

uzavřením této smlouvy seznámil, jejich obsahu plně rozumí a bez výhrad s nimi souhlasí.

ÚVĚR LEASING POJIŠTĚNÍ MOBILITA

Smlouva o operativním leasingu

Na straně příjemce leasingu jako "klient"

uzavírají dle § 1746 ods. 2 občanského zákoníku tuto Smlouvu o operativním leasingu (,dále jen 

"Smlouva"), za níže uvedených podmínek. Společnost přenechává na základě Smlouvy klientovi do 

užívání dopravní prostředek specifikovaný níže (dále jen "Předmětné vozidlo")

Škoda Superb kombi 2.0 TDI Style 4x4 (A6) 140 kW
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On the other hand, for IFRS 16 the right to buy of an asset is not essential, but the 

crucial part is the right of use of the asset. Therefore, the company has to recognise the 

lease in the Balance Sheet either on the particular account Right-of-Use or on any other 

Balance Sheet account. If the entity chooses not to use the Right-of-Use account as the 

ABC company, then they have to describe in detail what are the leased asset and what 

are the assets owned by the company. The entity must include the description in the 

Notes to Financial Statements. The same procedure applies to report on the payables 

accounts. The company may or may not use an individual account for the lease 

payables. The ABC company uses the account Finance lease payables.  

 

The exciting thing about this contract is that on the second page of Attachment number 

2 it is possible to see that the deal includes some services related to the car. There is 

for example insurance of the vehicle, insurance of the cars’ window, accident 

insurance, road tax or tire service fees. According to the IFRS 16, these services must 

be excluded from the right-of-use and should be monthly recognised in Profit and Loss 

statement as service expenses. However, in the contract are not the amounts of 

individual services, and despite the numerous e-mails and phone calls to the lessor 

company, they were not able to send the documents that would show the individual 

amounts. The lessor refused to communicate the information. 

 

For this reason, author was not able to do a reliable valuation of the services included 

in the lease contract. The ABC company decided to keep the services as part of the 

right to use the car, as the amount is not significant. In author’s opinion, the services 

included in the contract were up to around 20% of the leases contract. Usually, 

insurance for three years makes about 7.5% concerning the purchase price of the car. 

However, because of the uncertainty of the numbers, the company decided to keep it 

as part of the right of use. It is not in accordance with the new IFRS 16 standard, but 

when the company does not have the backups, then there is no possibility how to 

calculate the lease according to the International legislation. 
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2nd Situation 

In the second contract the services are separated from the right of use according to 

IFRS 16. The whole contract can be seen as an Attachment number 2 in the appendix 

of this thesis.  

Picture 2: Lease contract concerning degreasing machine 

 
 

It is a contract of the provision of cleaning services and protection services. From the 

name of the contract the accountant might think that in this agreement is nothing that 

Faktura daňový doklad

Číslo faktury 1820002979

Prodejní objednávka OP10003219

Číslo objednávky odběratele

Strana 1/1

Dodavatel Fakturační adresa

xxx xxx

xxx xxx

xxx xxx

IČ xxx DIČ   xxx

Účet xxx

Banka xxx

IBAN xxx

SWIFT xxx

Způsob dodání

Dodací podmínky

Platební podmínky 60 dnů

Odběratel

Datum vystavení 31.08.18 xxx

Datum splatnosti 30.10.18 IČ   xxx DIČ   xxx

Datum zdanitelného plnění 31.08.18 Vystavil/a xxx Telefon xxx

Zápis v OR…: xxx E-mail xxx

Název Množství

Cena za 

jednotku Celkem Sazba DPH

Celkem s 

DPH

řízení zakázky 1 ks 2 280,00 2 280,00 21 2 758,80

odmašťovací stroj 1 ks 5 544,00 5 544,00 21 6 708,24

Rekapitulace DPH

Základ 

DPH

Sazba 

DPH DPH Celkem s DPH Měna

Fakturováno 7 824,00 21 1 643,04 9 467,04 CZK

Zaokrouhlení 0,00 0,96 CZK

Částka k úhradě 9 468,00 CZK

Podpis

Fakturujeme Vám dle Rámcové smlouvy za období 07/2018

K pohledávce je zřízeno zástavní právo ve prospěch banky xxx. Fakturovanou částku uhraďte na 

výše uvedený účet xxx.



 
 

 

 

 47 

could be a subject of lease. However, in the contract are described the subjects of the 

agreement (“Příloha č.2:”, Attachment number 2). The first item is administrative fee 

(fees for managers that delegate the cleaners for particular shifts, and so on). Then 

follows the Internal cleaning services - manual cleaning, Internal cleaning services - 

machine cleaning, Security services and Cleaning of filters and filtration units. All of 

these items are services. However, the last item on the contract is carousel degreasing 

and cleaning machine, which can be a subject of lease as the ABC company has the 

right of use the asset. The validity and effectiveness of the contract is from 1 October 

2017 and is for sixty months. The lessor cannot terminate the contract for the first 

eighteen months. The lessee can end the deal even in the first month, but the notice 

period is four months calculated from the first day of the next month. The same notice 

period applies to lessor after the eighteen months. This means that the contract is taken 

as non-cancellable for 5 months. The contract could be identified as a short-term lease, 

then the monthly instalments would go directly to company expenses. If the ABC 

company terminates the contract before the end of the contract, the company will have 

to buy the machine for the price in the schedule of the instalments shown on the 

following page (“Příloha č. 10”, Attachment number 2). Therefore, the contract is 

considered to be a financial lease. The ABC company expects not to terminate the 

contract before the end of the deal, due to the expenses the company would have to 

pay for the training of employees, the service expenses and so on. If they terminated 

the contract before the end, the company would not only lose the lease of the machine 

but also the services related to cleaning and security. Because of this the company is 

expected to use the full length of the contract. Therefore, the company does consider 

the agreement as long-term. According to IFRS 16 the services of 2,280 CZK are 

reported directly into services expense in the Profit and Loss statement and liabilities 

on the Balance Sheet as the monthly instalments. The rest of the contract is reported 

on Right-of-Use or any other assets account. The acquisition price of the machine is 

278,200 CZK as it is to be seen on the penultimate page in Attachment number 2. The 

ABC company reports the amount 278,200 CZK as a right of use on the debit side on 

the Balance Sheet and the credit side as a liability. Since, the acquisition price is known 

and the total lease payments without services (5,544 CZK * 60 months), the 

incremental interest rate (IRR) can be calculated by using the Excel function “Rate”. 

The calculated incremental interest rate is equal to 0.628 % per month. With this rate 
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it is possible to calculate the monthly interests that are to be paid during the contract. 

The total interest for 60 months is 54,400 CZK. The monthly interest is reported on 

the Balance Sheet as an increase of liability on the credit side and as an increase of 

expenses on the debit side of the Profit and Loss Statement. The using time of the 

machine is 60 months. To get the monthly depreciation the total acquisition price had 

to be divided by the using period of the machine (278,200 CZK/ 60 months). The 

depreciation equals to 4,637 CZK per months. This amount is also written in the 

penultimate page of the Attachment number 2. The depreciation is reported on a 

monthly basis as a decrease on a debit side of Right of Use or any other used asset 

account on the Balance Sheet and as an increase on debit side of expenses in the Profit 

and Loss Statement. The last part of the contract that has to be reported in the 

accounting of the ABC company is the monthly lease instalment of 5,544 CZK. The 

lease payments are reported monthly on Balance Sheet as decrease of cash on the debit 

side and decrease of liability on the credit side. 

 

According to the Czech accounting legislation the company reports the whole amount 

of the contract, the machine and all of the services, in the Profit and Loss Statement as 

monthly expense and on Balance Sheet as a monthly liability of 7,824 CZK. There is 

no payable for the future redemption. Under IFRS 16 the ABC company reports the 

total payable in their Balance Sheet, therefore, the reporting is more precise.  

 

3rd Situation 

The ABC company has another similar contract to the one described above. The 

subject of the lease are eleven copy machines. The contract is for four years and the 

total acquisition cost is more than 746 thousand CZK. It seems, that the contract should 

be considered as a financial lease. However, the acquisition cost of one particular copy 

machine does not exceed 5,000 USD. This amount is considered as an upper limit for 

low value assets. Since, there is no asset that would exceed the acquisition cost of 

5,000 USD, the contract is reported in the Profit and Loss Statement as a monthly 

expense to the ABC company. Therefore, there is no difference in Balance Sheet nor 

the Profit and Loss Statement between reporting under Czech accounting legislation 

and IFRS 16. 
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4th Situation 

The third and the last contract, that will be describe in this thesis is a lease of forklift 

truck. See the Attachment number 3 in the Appendix for the complete version of the 

contract.  

Picture 3: Lease contract concerning forklift truck 

 

Leasingová smlouva (finanční leasing s opcí odkupu) 7008003498

xxx xxx

xxx xxx

xxx xxx

xxx xxx

xxx xxx

Příjemce leasingu dále jen "Příjemce" Poskytovatel leasingu dále jen "Poskytovatel"

I . Předmět smlouvy

II. Parametry leasingu

Předmět leasingu

Umístění

Doba leasingu 54 měsíců Sazba mezifinancování (PRIBOR 1M/12 + 0,5) p.m.

Počet leasingových splátek 36 Typ sazby financování FIX

Měna splácení Kč

Pořizovací cena bez DPH 265 125,00 Kč Pořizovací cena s DPH 320 801,25 Kč

Mim. Splátka bez DPH 0,00 Kč Mim. Splátka s DPH 0,00 Kč

Předběžná výše splátky bez 

DPH

dle splátkového 

kalendáře

Předběžná výše splátky s 

DPH dle splátkového kalendáře

Převodní cena bez DPH 1 000,00 Kč Převodní cena s DPH 1 210,00 Kč
Financování s podporou 

zdrojů Evropské investiční 

banky (EIB) Ne

nemusí být sjednáno

Poskytovatel

Poskytovatel

I I I . Zajištění

Bez zjištění

IV. Ostatní ustanovení

Nesjednává se

V. Závěrečná ustanovení

čitelně jméno a příjmení osoby podepsané výšečitelně jméno a příjmení osoboy podepsané výše

Tato smlouva nabývá platnosti a účinnosti dnem jejího podpisu poslední ze smluvních stran. Tato 

smlouva byla vyhotovena ve dvou stejnopisech s platností originálu, z nichž po jednom obdrží každá 

ze smluvních stran. Na důkaz toho, že se smluvní strany s touto smlouvou před jejím podpisem 

seznámily, že s ní souhlasí a že byla uzavřena z jejich pravé a svobodné vůle, připojují svůj podpis

Datum 25. 2. 2015

Místo Praha

Datum xxx

Místo xxx

xxx

Příjemce

xxx

Poskytovatel

uzavírají ve smyslu § 1746 ods.2 zákona č. 89/2012 Sb., občanský zákoník, ve znění pozdějších 

předpisů (dále jen "OZ"), tuto leasingovou smlouvu:

Poskytovatel se Příjemci touto smlouvou zavazuje poskytnout finanční službu finanční leasing níže 

uvedeného předmětu leasingu a Příjemce uvedené přijímá a zavazuje se uhradit Poskytovateli sjednané 

platby a splnění další své sjednané povinnosti. Veškerá práva a povinnosti smluvních stran jsou 

upraveny ve Všeobecných smluvních podmínkách leasingu (VSPL), jež Příjemce při podpisu této 

smlouvy převzal a podpisem této smlouvy v plném rozsahu akceptuje. Splatnost a výše veškerých 

leasingových plateb včetně plateb případného pojistného je uvedena ve splátkovém kalendáři 

daňovém dokladu, jenž se po svém vyhotovení stává přílohou této smlouvy.

Vysokozdvižný vozík Crown     Bližší specifikace předmětu leasingu je 

uvedena v technické specifikaci, jež je přílohou písemné kupní smlouvy, 

je-li tato uzavřena, a předavacím protokolu předmětu leasingu

dle dispozic Příjemce

Pojištění výjimka:

Další pojištění sjednává

Pojištění STR sjednává:

Pojištění odpovědnosti za škodu způsobenou provozem vozidla sjednává:

Havarijní pojištění sjednává:
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The length of the contract is 54 months with 36 monthly instalments. The ABC 

company has the right not the obligation to buy the asset after the expiration of the 

lease. Since, the redemption price after the 54 months is only 1,000 CZK, the ABC 

company expects to buy the truck. The purchase price of the truck is 265,125 CZK. 

The correctness of the estimated purchase price is confirmed on the last page of 

Attachment number 3. Author has checked all of the details of the contract with the 

purchase contract (supplier) of the truck, transfer protocol, proof of vehicle insurance, 

certificate of insurance of the subject of financing and general terms and conditions of 

a financial lease, however the documents are not included in the appendix due to the 

length of the file.  

 

The total acquisition price of the lease, that is reported in the assets as a right of use, 

is 265,125 CZK, since there are no advance payments that would decrease the assets 

value. The loan interest rate that for which a bank would provide a loan for the 

conditions of this contract would be 0.308 % per month. The fair value calculated in 

Excel with a function Present value is 268,229 CZK. Since the fair value is higher than 

the acquisition price, the ABC company is reporting the lower price thus 265,125 

CZK. This amount is reported in the beginning of a contract in the Balance Sheet as 

an increase of right of use of an asset on the debit side and as an increase of Liabilities 

on the credit side. The incremental interest rate (IRR) calculated in Excel by the 

function Rate is 0.376 % per month. This interest rate is used for calculation of the 

interests that is monthly reported as an expense on a debit side of Profit and Loss 

Statement and as increase in liability on the credit side of Balance Sheet. The total 

interest for the contract is 17,862.28 CZK. The second thing reported every month is 

monthly payment, that is 7,832.77 CZK in this contract. The value is reported as a 

decrease in liability on the credit side of Balance Sheet and a decrease of cash on the 

debit side of Balance Sheet. The last item of the contract booked every month is 

depreciation of the asset. The accountant books the depreciation of 2,209 CZK since 

the life of the truck is expected to be 10 years and the acquisition cost is 265,125. The 

depreciation is calculated as a fraction of 265,125 and 120 months. This amount is 

then booked every month as decrease on debit side of a right of use and an increase on 

a debit side on expenses. After 36 months of the contract the ABC company will have 

the total loan including interest paid. Since that moment the company is going to pay 
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only the insurance for the rest of the 18 months. This insurance of 192 CZK is paid 

every month and booked as an increase in Profit and Loss Statement as an expense and 

increase of the liability on the Balance Sheet.  

 

According to the Czech accounting legislation the company takes the acquisition price 

of the contract and divide it by 54 months. Then the company reports this monthly 

instalment of 4,910 CZK as an increase of liability on the Balance Sheet and as an 

increase of expenses on the Profit and Loss Statement.  

 

4.3 Differences in financial statements 

In this chapter, the differences between the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss 

Statement in the company ABC according to the Czech accounting legislation and 

IFRS 16 will be evaluated. The total implementation of the IFRS 16 caused the 

changes in reported amounts and not only the contracts mentioned above. 

4.3.1 Balance Sheet 

This part of the diploma thesis will describe the changes in the Balance Sheet when 

the ABC company reports according to Czech accounting legislation and after the 

implementation of the new standard IFRS 16. In the table below is an extract from the 

Balance Sheet given in thousands of CZK. There are the essential parts that will be 

used for calculations in the chapter “5. Results and discussion”, or that are connected 

to the current contracts. The Local GAAP is a commonly used term to describe 

reporting of any journal entry that is according to local legislation, in this case, Czech 

accounting legislation. The complete Balance Sheet is included in the appendix of this 

thesis as Attachment number 4. 
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 Table 2: Changes on the Balance Sheet caused by the implementation 

Balance Sheet 

Position Description 

Local GAAP 

(thousands 

CZK) 

TOTAL 

IFRS 

(thousands 

CZK) 

% change 

11135 

Technical equipment and 

machines 79,221 88,314 10.30% 

11140 

Other facilities, factory and 

office equipment 7,994 9,266 13.72% 

  NON-CURRENT ASSETS 189,828 200,811 5.47% 

  CURRENT ASSETS 368,961 369,568 0.16% 

  ASSETS 558,789 570,390 2.03% 

  EQUITY 479,637 480,184 0.11% 

12580 Finance lease payables 0 240 100% 

  

NON-CURRENT 

LIABILITIES 6,132 15,084 59.35% 

12880 Finance lease payables 0 2,063 100% 

  CURRENT LIABILITIES 73,020 75,112 2.78% 

  LIABILITIES 79,152 90,196 12.24% 

  

EQUITY AND 

LIABILITIES 558,789 570,380 2.03% 
Source: own procedure, own calculation based on data provided by ABC company; in 

thousands of crowns; for fiscal year 2018 

 

The table above shows the differences in reporting on Balance Sheet according to 

Czech accounting legislation and International Financial Reporting Standards – IFRS 

16. On the accounts “Technical equipment and machines” and “Other facilities, 

factory and office equipment” are booked the net book values of leased assets. The 
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sum of the net book values of the current lease contracts was as of 31 December 2018 

4,627 thousand CZK. The rest of the change on the account “Technical equipment and 

machines” was mainly due to a net book value of already finished leased contracts. 

Non-current assets are all of the assets that the company expects to own for a more 

extended period than one year. The non-current assets are a sum of Intangible assets, 

Property, plant and equipment, Investments and other financial receivables, Other 

assets and deferred tax assets. On the other hand, current assets are used by the 

company only for less than one year. Current assets include Inventories, Trade 

receivables, Other financial receivables, Other assets, Income tax receivables, Cash 

and cash equivalents and Assets held for sale. The sum of non-current assets and 

current assets results in total assets, which will be used in the calculations in the 

chapter: “5. Results and discussion”.  

 

The shareholder equity is calculated as a sum of Share capital, Share premium and 

reserves. The equity can also be calculated as a deduction of total liabilities from total 

assets. The equity is for example needed for the calculation of a shareholder equity 

ratio which is described below. Finance lease payables is an account for booking the 

financial leases according to IFRS 16; therefore, there is a zero balance on the local 

GAAP side. The position 12580 reports the financial lease payables that are for more 

than one year and the position 12880 payables for less than one year. According to this 

division, the financial lease payables fall under the non-current and current liabilities. 

The calculation of non-current and current liabilities is similar to the calculation of 

assets. Non-current liabilities are long-term debts that are to be paid for more than one 

year such as Employee provisions, bank loans and supplier payables. The current 

liabilities report the same items as non-current with the only difference that these are 

for up to one year. Total liabilities are calculated as the sum of total current and non-

current liabilities. All of the indicators will be used later in this thesis to estimate the 

financial ratios. 
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4.3.2 Profit and Loss Statement 

This chapter will describe the differences that have arisen due to the implementation 

of the new standard IFRS 16. Author has chosen for this part only the indicators, that 

will be used for the calculations in the chapter: “5. Results and discussion”. The table 

below also shows indicators that were changed due to current leases contracts. The 

Local GAAP is a commonly used term to describe reporting of any journal entry that 

is according to local legislation, in this case, Czech accounting legislation.  

 Table 3: Changes on the Profit and Loss Statement caused by the implementation 

The Profit and Loss Statement 

Position Description 

Local GAAP 

(thousands 

CZK) 

TOTAL 

IFRS 

(thousands 

CZK) 

% change 

20100 Revenue 648,610 653,356 0.73% 

20850 

Insurance premiums, 

membership fees and other 

fees 850 853 0.27% 

  Total Cost of Sales 539,685 540,204 0.10% 

  Gross Profit  108,925 113,152 3.74% 

60410 

Currency exchange rate gains 

unrealized 1,401 1,408 0.48% 

  Operating Result 55,016 57,157 3.75% 

  

Earnings before Interest and 

Taxes (EBIT) 55,016 57,157 3.75% 

81520 

Sundry interest and similar 

expenses 210 502 58.17% 

  Interest income/expense -146 -439 66.60% 

  Earnings before taxes 54,869 56,718 3.26% 

  Income tax expenses -4,983 -5,268 5.41% 

  

 

Profit for the period 49,887 51,450 3.04% 
Source: own procedure, own calculation based on data provided by ABC company; in 

thousands of crowns; for fiscal year 2018 
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The whole Profit and Loss Statement can be found in the appendix of this thesis as an 

attachment number 5. 

 

The table above shows the differences in Profit and Loss Statement when using the 

reporting following Czech legislation or IFRS 16. The difference in revenues is since 

the ABC company decided to hedge their EUR contracts and as a result they realised 

a currency exchange rate gain. That is why they recognise in Profit and Loss Statement 

according to IFRS 16 higher revenue by 4,746 thousand CZK. The change in Insurance 

premiums, membership fees and other fees is due to a lease contract that is described 

in the chapter: “4.2 ABC leases contracts according to IFRS 16”. It is an insurance of 

the forklift truck that was leased in 2015 for fifty-four months. The change in Currency 

exchange rate gains unrealised is due to current leases contracts that were signed in 

EUR currency. The ABC company realised a currency exchange rate loss for these 

two contracts. The difference in account Sundry interest and similar expenses arises 

because of the interests for the year 2018 from the current leases contracts.  

 

The total cost of sales is calculated as a sum of Cost of materials, Personal expenses, 

Depreciation and Other operating expenses for the current period minus Other 

operating income relating to the current period. The gross profit is then subtraction of 

total cost of sales from total revenues. A user of the Profit and Loss Statement can 

calculate the Operating result as a sum of Gross profit and Total other operating 

income minus sum of Total cost of research and development, Total distribution 

expenses, Total administrative expenses and Total other operating expenses. When the 

investor or user wants to calculate Earnings before interests and taxes or so-called Net 

income, he/she adds to the Operating Result Income/expenses from participation and 

Income from profit pooling and then subtract Expenses from absorption of losses and 

Result from other financial fixed assets and securities. The Earnings before interests 

and taxes (EBIT) is used for the calculations of financial indicators. The difference in 

Interest/expense account is due to a difference in Sundry interest and similar expenses. 

The reason for the diversity is described in the paragraph above. 

 

When Interest/expense account is added to the EBIT, then the result is the Earnings 

before taxes. The company is then able to calculate the income tax expenses, and then 
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adding them to Earnings before taxes we get the final Profit for the period. This amount 

shows the real profit for the company reduced by expenses for the current year. From 

the table above, we can say that the company had in 2018 profit of 49,887 thousand 

CZK according to Czech accounting legislation and 51,540 thousand CZK when 

following the IFRS 16. From this perspective, it seems that it is better for the ABC 

company to report their financial statements according to new standard IFRS 16. 
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5. Results and Discussion 

In this chapter, the differences between Czech accounting legislation and IFRS 16 in 

selected financial indicators will be calculated and described. Five following financial 

indicators were selected because all of them are expected to be affected by the 

implementation of the new IFRS 16 standard. 

5.1 Return on assets 

Return on assets shows to what extent a company can generate profits from the 

available assets or any other alternative measure that measures corporate performance. 

Asset profitability is not firmly defined in its reader. However, the denominator is, 

however, always the very assets (or, in the conveyed sense, all the sources of the 

company or liabilities). For example, the formula for ROA may look like EBIT / 

Assets. EBIT refers to earnings before interest and taxes, or the sum of the profit or 

loss for the period, income taxes on extraordinary activities and income taxes on 

ordinary activities and interest expense (Marinič, 2009). 

 

 

 

Czech accounting legislation 

 

 

 

The net income also called earnings before interests and taxes was 55 million CZK 

according to the Czech accounting legislation. To calculate the return on assets this 

number had to be divided by total assets which were more than 558 million CZK 

crowns. It is clear from the result that when the company reports according to Czech 

accounting legislation, they generate 9.85 CZK, for every one hundred CZK invested 

into assets. 
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IFRS 16 

 

 

 

The Profit and Loss Statement shows that the net income according to IFRS 16 for 

the year 2018 was 57 million CZK. On the Balance Sheet, we are able to find the 

number of total assets the company reported as of 31 December 2018 according to 

IFRS 16, and it was 570 million CZK. After dividing these two values, we are able to 

find out, that the company in 2018 generated 10 CZK for every one hundred CZK 

invested in the total assets. 

 

Results 

When investors calculate the return on assets from the financial statements prepared 

according to the International Reporting Financial Standards, then the company is 

generating more profit from the total invested money in the assets. The IFRS 16 

approach is better for the ratio because it reflects the real value of total assets used to 

generate the profit. The direction of the change is uncertain depending on the approach 

to depreciation of the leased asset. Generally, the ratio according to IFRS 16 will be 

higher than the one following the Czech accounting legislation, due to the fact that the 

rent according to Czech accounting legislation that is higher than the depreciation and 

interest following the IFRS 16. 

5.2 Current ratio 

The current ratio is calculated as the ratio of current liabilities to current assets. This 

indicator, therefore, tells us how many times an economic entity can satisfy the claims 

of creditors when it turns all of its current assets into cash. The recommended value 

for normal liquidity varies depending on the author.  It is clear that a questionable 

value is less than one, which indicates that short-term liabilities cannot be paid out of 

current assets and must be covered from long-term sources of funding extension from 

the sale of fixed assets. Generally speaking, the steadier the revenue of the company 

and the more secure the sources of its income (e.g. through framework agreements 

with customers), the current liquidity can be closer to one. When calculating the results 
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of the current ratio, it does not always mean that the higher the number, the better the 

company operates. If the current ratio is too high it can indicate for example, that the 

company does not use their current assets efficiently (Marinič, 2009). 

 

 
Czech accounting legislation 

 

 

 

The ABC company has reported in the Balance Sheet according to Czech accounting 

legislation that their current or short-term assets reach almost 369 million CZK and 

the current or short-term liabilities are around 73 million CZK. The deviation of these 

to amounts results in 5.0529. The result means that the ABC company is able to pay 

every 1 CZK of the liability more than five times by their current assets. 

 

IFRS 16 

 

 

 

When calculating the current ratio from the Balance Sheet according to IFRS 16, the 

numbers for current assets and current liabilities are different from reporting according 

to the Czech Accounting standard. Specifically, the current assets are 369.6 million 

CZK, and the current liabilities are 75 million CZK. The result of the deviation is 

4.9203. It means that the company is able to pay 4.92 times from current assets for 

every 1 CZK of current liabilities. 

 

Results 

From the results above, we can see, that the company is able to pay more of the current 

liabilities by their current assets when they report according to the Czech law.  
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5.3 Total debt to total assets 

Total Debt to Total Assets, which, as the name suggests, is calculated as total debts 

(i.e. short-term and long-term loans) / total assets. It is clear that this fraction should 

be less than one, but with an accumulated loss from previous years, it is easy to get the 

result higher than one. Overall, this number tells us how many crowns of debt the 

company has per one crown of the company's total assets (Marinič, 2009). 

 

 

 

Czech accounting legislation 

 

 

 

For the calculation of the total debt to total assets ratio, the total debt and total assets 

amounts have to be known. These are available on the Balance Sheet. Firstly, the 

Balance Sheet under the Czech legislation was used. There could be found that the 

company has a total debt of around 79 million CZK and total assets of almost 559 

million CZK. When dividing the two amounts, the result is 0.1416. This number 

indicates that the company has a low degree of leverage, and therefore a high degree 

of financial flexibility. The result can also be interpreted that the creditors finance 

14.16% of the company's assets and the shareholders' equity finances the rest.  

 

IFRS 16 

 

 

 

The total debt is higher in the Balance sheet according to IFRS 16. It increased up to 

90 million CZK. The total assets are with the value of more than 570 million CZK also 

higher than the total assets according to Czech accounting legislation. After the use of 
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the formula, the result is 0.1581. We can say that liabilities and creditors finance 15.81 

% of the total assets and that the shareholders finance the rest of the assets with equity. 

 

Results 

The results above show the differences when calculating the total debt to total assets 

ratio according to the Czech accounting legislation and the IFRS 16. As the total debt 

increased under IFRS 16 more than the total assets the total debt to total assets ratio 

has increased as well. It means that the foreign investors would see that the company 

has a higher degree of leverage than the Czech investor, or someone who would 

evaluate the Balance Sheet according to Czech legislation. On the other hand, 0.1581 

is still a low rate for this ratio and even the foreign investors would assess the company 

as a risk-free investment.  

5.4 Shareholder equity ratio 

The shareholder equity ratio is calculated as the ratio of the total shareholders’ equity 

to total assets of the company. The ratio shows how much of the equity shares is 

needed to fund the firms’ total assets. The higher the result of the ratio is, the less funds 

the company needs for its total assets. From the ratio we are also able to calculate how 

much money the shareholders will get when the entire company comes into 

liquidation. The result is given in percentage. The numbers needed for the calculation 

are gathered from the Balance Sheet (Marinič, 2009).  

 

 

 

Czech accounting legislation 

 

 

 

 

The shareholder equity ratio is calculated as a fraction between the total shareholder 

equity and the total assets. The Balance Sheet of the ABC company reports both of the 
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amounts. The total shareholder equity reported in the Balance Sheet under the Czech 

legislation for 2018 was almost 480 million CZK, and the total assets were nearly 559 

million CZK. After the calculation of the division between these two amounts we get 

a result of 0.8584. This result tells the investor or any user who is interested in the 

financial statements of the company, how many percents of the total assets were 

financed with the shareholder equity. In other words, it shows how financially stable 

the company is in the long run or if the company lives on debt. From the calculated 

result, every investor is able to recognise that the ABC company finance more than 

85% of the total assets with shareholder equity. 

 

IFRS 16 

 

 

 

 

When calculating the shareholder equity ratio according to the new standard IFRS 16, 

the modified values from the Balance Sheet had to be used. Due to the differences 

between reporting under the Czech accounting legislation and IFRS 16 shareholder 

equity increased up to 480 million CZK and total assets increased up to 570 million 

CZK. The foreign investor, who would use the financial statements of the company 

prepared according to the new standard IFRS 16, is able to say that the company is 

financially stable because they finance more than 84% of their total assets with the 

shareholder equity. 

 

Results 

The increase in total assets according to IFRS 16 was higher than the increase in total 

shareholder equity, and therefore, the result of the ratio is lower than in the calculation 

under the Czech legislation. Hence, the user of the balance sheet prepared under Czech 

law may evaluate the company as a less risky investment. Since the result according 

to IFRS 16 is more than 84%, a foreign investor would describe this company also as 

risk-free as they finance only 16% of the total assets by loans and other debts. 
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5.5 Debt/Equity ratio 

Debt to Equity Ratio is the company's debt to equity and shows the overall debt ratio 

of the company or shows how much debt the company uses to fund its assets in 

proportion to the amount of equity. We can also look at the debt to equity ratio as part 

of the company's balance sheet that is funded by creditors, suppliers, and so on to the 

equity position of the company. Debt use is associated with a leverage effect. The 

company uses leverage, debt, in order to increase the potential return on investment. 

The ratio also shows the firms’ ability to cover all of the debts by shareholders’ equity 

(Marinič, 2009). 

 

 

 

Czech accounting legislation 

 

 

 

 

For the calculation of the debt-to-equity ratio under the Czech accounting legislation, 

we need to know the values of total liabilities and total shareholder equity. The Balance 

Sheet of the ABC company reports both of the required amounts. The reported total 

liabilities as of 31 December 2018 were more than 79 million CZK, and the total 

shareholder equity was more than 479.6 million CZK. The result of the debt to equity 

ratio is 0.1650. That means that the company has 16.5 CZK debt for every 100 CZK 

of shareholder equity. That indicates that the company is lightly leveraged. 

 

IFRS 16 
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The debt-to-equity ratio according to IFRS 16 is calculated the same way as the ratio 

under Czech accounting legislation. The investor only has to use the Balance Sheet 

statement, that follows International Financial Reporting Standards. The amount for 

total liabilities used for this calculation is more than 90 million CZK, and for total 

shareholder equity, it is more than 480 million CZK. The resulted debt-to-equity ratio 

is 0.1878. This amount shows an investor that the ABC company is considered as 

lightly leveraged with less than 19 CZK of debt for every 100 CZK of shareholder 

equity. 

 

Results 

Even though the total shareholder equity is higher in the Balance Sheet according to 

IFRS 16, the debt-to-equity ratio is lower than for the results under the Czech 

accounting legislation. That is due to the fact that the total liabilities are higher when 

the company reports under IFRS 16 by almost 12 million CZK. Therefore, the 

company looks to be a less risky investment for the investors, who calculate the debt-

to-equity ratio from the Balance Sheet following the Czech legislation. However, both 

of the results show that the company is for Czech as well as foreign investors risk-free 

investment because of the very low leverage ratio. If the company had to, for some 

reason, pay back all of the liabilities they would not have any problem as they can pay 

the total liabilities more than five times by its shareholder equity and would not have 

to sell or use any of their assets. 
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6 Conclusion 

The thesis deals firstly with leases in general, followed by the implementation of a 

new IFRS 16 Leasing Standard, published by the IASB on 13 January 2016, replacing 

the current IAS 17 Leases and its related interpretations. The work explained the 

concrete changes brought by the implementation of the new standard against the 

current and Czech accounting legislation, possible changes in the performance of a 

chosen limited liability company and expected impacts on financial statements and 

key financial indicators. 

 

Firstly, the chapter characteristics of the lease explained the concept of the lease. It is 

one of the possible financing forms of acquisition of fixed assets. Firstly, the property 

financing through leases developed in the USA furthermore the long-term assets 

acquisition begun to be part of lease contracts in the 1950s. Generally, the lease may 

be a contractual relationship between the lessor (usually the owner of the subject of 

the contract) and the lessee (the temporary user of the matter of the contract) under 

which the lessor provides the lessee right to use the thing for an agreed period of time 

and a payment or other non-monetary consideration. It can be emphasised that in a 

lease business operation, it is possible to gain access to the use of the binding machine, 

equipment or another asset without the risks associated with its ownership. In the case 

of leases, it is possible to acquire this property in the ownership after the expiry of the 

lease term at a price approaching its residual value. 

 

During the development of lease in market economies, two basic types of leases were 

created - financial and operating. The difference between these two types is mainly in 

the extent of transferring owner and user risks from the lessor company to the lessee. 

Another factor that distinguishes the operating from the financial lease is the 

possibility to transfer the ownership of the asset from lessor to lessee after the end of 

the contract and the length of the agreement.  

 

The following chapter focused on the treatment of leases according to Czech 

accounting regulations. According to Czech Accounting legislation, the lessee reports 

the leased asset only on the Off-Balance Sheet. The lessee reports only monthly 
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payments as a liability to the lessor in the Balance Sheet and as lease expenses in the 

Profit and Loss Statement. The lessee reports the total debt related to the lease contract 

on the Off-Balance Sheet. If the lessee has the right to buy the leased asset, once the 

contract expires, then he/she reports the purchase of the asset in net book value. When 

the net book value after the deal is zero, then the asset is valued by the reproduction 

price. The lessor has to recognise the depreciation of the asset throughout the entire 

length of the agreement. Leases regulation is criticised in the Czech Republic mainly 

because the reporting of the lease is based on the legal ownership of the subject of the 

lease, not the economic ownership.  

 

International Accounting Harmonization represents the approximation and unification 

of methods, procedures and structures used in national accounting to achieve 

transparency and mutual comparability of financial statements. Already in 2005, the 

US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) acknowledged that the value of Off-

Balance Sheet leases of US companies was significant, and recommended that FASB, 

in cooperation with the IASB, should implement the project to review current lease 

reporting rules. The plan of creating a new standard directing the way of lease 

reporting was a ten-year process. Many documents were issued during the progression 

of the project, and the experts also participated in the evaluation. The long-term effort 

ultimately resulted in the adoption of the new IFRS 16. The Standard will become 

effective on 1 January 2019 and will replace the current IAS 17 and all related 

interpretations from that date. 

 

The next part is devoted to the process of creating a new standard. Its phases are 

described there, which means a summary of the main proposals for the reporting of 

leases contained in the documents that were published by the organisations during the 

process. The entire project ended with the release of the new IFRS 16, which is devoted 

to a substantial part of the third chapter. The new standard radically changes the way 

the lessee reports on leases contracts and slightly varies and complements the 

regulation of leases reporting on the lessors' side. According to IFRS 16, the lessee 

will no longer distinguish between financial and operating leases; he/she will only 

assess whether the lease contains the lease. After the new International Standard, all 
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leases will enter the lessee's balance sheet, except for short-term leases and leases of 

assets of insignificant value that form an exception to the application of the standard. 

 

The practical part describes the effect of the implementation of the new standard IFRS 

16 in the selected Czech limited liability company. A German organisation bought the 

company in 2018, therefore, will have to start to report according to IFRS 16 from 1 

January 2019. Firstly, author has described the differences between Czech accounting 

legislation and IFRS 16 in three concrete lease contracts that the ABC company reports 

in their accounting. Generally, according to the Czech legislation, the whole 

acquisition cost of the asset is divided by the length of the lease contract. Then the 

particular instalments are booked on a monthly basis on the credit side of the Balance 

Sheet as a liability and as an expense on the Profit and Loss Statement.  

 

Then the chapter also describes how to evaluate the acquisition price of the leased 

asset, how to calculate the interest and depreciation, what the lessee should exclude 

from the lease payments and why in practice it is sometimes impossible to follow 

precisely the IFRS 16 standard. Generally, the lease according to IFRS 16 includes 

four parts of booking when the contract does not include services. First part is the 

booking of the acquisition price of the asset on the debit side of the Right-of-Use or 

any other asset account and the value of the liability on the credit side of Balance 

Sheet. The lessee books these amounts at the beginning of the lease contract. All of 

the other parts of the agreement are booked every month. The calculated interest 

increases the expenses in the Profit and Loss Statement and liability on the Balance 

Sheet. The amount of interest is different every month and depends on the net book 

value of the liability. The depreciation is a fraction of acquisition price of an asset and 

a length of the asset life. After the calculation, the depreciation increases the expenses 

on the Profit and Loss Statement and decreases the net book value of an asset on the 

Balance Sheet. The last part of the lease contract that has to be booked is the monthly 

instalment that decreases cash on the debit side and liability on the credit side of the 

Balance Sheet. If the contract includes any services, the entity has to separate them 

from the lease and book them as an increase of liability on the credit side of the Balance 

Sheet and an increase of service expense on the debit side of the Profit and Loss 

Statement.  
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The chapter "Differences in financial statements" describes the differences in reporting 

on the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Statement according to Czech Accounting 

standard and IFRS 16. The chapter includes abridged financial statements of the ABC 

company. The complete version of the financial statements is attached in the appendix. 

The Balance Sheet shows an increase in accounts Technical equipment and machines, 

Other facilities, factory and office equipment, and Financial lease payables which is 

due to the different reporting approach of the leases under IFRS 16. The Profit and 

Loss Statement displays an increase in accounts Insurance premiums, membership 

fees and other fees, Currency exchange rate gains unrealized, and Sundry interest and 

similar expenses. The next chapter describes the difference in approaches. Mainly the 

difference is due to the reporting of the acquisition cost in the debit side of assets and 

the credit side of liabilities on the Balance Sheet. The change in Profit and Loss 

Statement is mainly due to interest, insurance and the realised currency exchange 

losses on two EUR leases. Due to this reporting approach under IFRS 16, all of the 

related accounts and factors increase the balance. 

 

The last chapter calculates five selected financial indicators. As was expected after the 

theoretical part, the calculations of all of the ratios show that Czech accounting 

legislation highly underestimate the reported value of assets and liabilities of the 

company. That is a problem of the Off-Balance Sheet reporting system under Czech 

legislation. For the end user of the financial statements of the company, would be 

better to make a decision regarding the performance of the company according to the 

financial reports following the IFRS 16 standard. The IFRS 16 reports the real value 

of the total assets and liabilities that affect the company’s performance. 
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DVOŘÁKOVÁ, D., 2014. Finanční účetnictví a výkaznictví podle mezinárodních 

standardů IFRS, 4. vyd. Brno: BizBooks, 2014. 327 s. ISBN 978-80-265-0149-7.  
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8 Appendix

Attachment 1: 
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 79 

 



 

 80 

 



 

 81 

 



 

 82 

 



 

 83 



 

 84 



 

 85 



 

 86 



 

 87 



 

 88 



 

 89 



 

 90 



 

 91 



 

 92 



 

 93 

 

  



 

 94 

Attachment 3: 

 



 

 95 



 

 96 



 

 97 



 

 98 

 

  



 

 99 

Attachment 4:

Position Description

Local GAAP 

(CZK)

TOTAL

IFRS (CZK) % change

11110

Industrial property rights and similar 

rights 1,715,935.00 1,916,006.00 10.44%

11118 Development costs 15,819.00 0.00 -100.00%

Intangible Assets 1,731,754.00 1,916,006.00 9.62%

11130 Land and buildings 84,424,320.00 76,138,820.00 -10.88%

11135 Technical equipment and machines 79,221,150.00 88,314,237.00 10.30%

11140

Other facilities, factory and office 

equipment 7,994,143.00 9,265,762.00 13.72%

11142

Advance payments and construction in 

progress (PP&E) 14,609,452.00 14,609,452.00 0.00%

Property, Plant and Equipment 186,249,065.00 188,328,271.00 1.10%

11250 Prepaid expenses 323,809.00 323,809.00 0.00%

Other Assets 323,809.00 323,809.00 0.00%

11350 Deferred Tax Assets 1,523,086.30 10,243,333.58 85.13%

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 189,827,714.30 200,811,419.58 5.47%

11410 Raw materials and supplies 60,176,572.00 60,176,572.00 0.00%

11420 Work in process 91,667,560.00 91,667,560.00 0.00%

Inventories 151,844,132.00 151,844,132.00 0.00%

11510 Trade receivables from third parties 7,813,475.00 9,138,981.00 14.50%

11520

Trade receivables from affiliated 

companies 74,714,397.00 73,967,253.00 -1.01%

Trade Receivables 82,527,872.00 83,106,234.00 0.70%

11550

Other receivables from affiliated 

companies 64,312,500.00 64,312,500.00 0.00%

11592 Receivables from employees -4,017.00 24,588.00 116.34%

11594 Receivables from derivatives 349,871.00 349,871.00 0.00%

Other Financial Receivables 64,658,354.00 64,686,959.00 0.04%

Balance Sheet
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11630 Prepayments for inventories 89,849.00 89,849.00 0.00%

11640 Receivables from other taxes 8,384,406.00 8,384,406.00 0.00%

11650 Prepaid expenses 3,464,281.00 3,464,281.00 0.00%

11655

Prepaid expenses to consolidated group 

companies 19,783.00 19,783.00 0.00%

Other Assets 11,958,319.00 11,958,319.00 0.00%

11700 Income Tax Receivables 490,300.00 490,300.00 0.00%

11910 Cheques, Cash 39,794.00 39,794.00 0.00%

11920 Bank balances 57,442,428.00 57,442,428.00 0.00%

Cash and Cash Equivalents 57,482,222.00 57,482,222.00 0.00%

CURRENT ASSETS 368,961,199.00 369,568,166.00 0.16%

ASSETS 558,788,913.30 570,379,585.58 2.03%

12110 Share capital 91,187,000.00 91,187,000.00 0.00%

12200 Share premium 464,422,699.00 462,522,364.00 -0.41%

12300 Other comprehensive income (OCI) -1,175,770.00 -1,175,770.00 0.00%

12306 Deferred taxes (recognised in equity) 223,396.30 223,396.30 0.00%

Reserves before retained earnings -952,373.70 -952,373.70 0.00%

12350 Retained earnings prior year -124,906,608.00 -124,023,790.00 -0.71%

Profit/loss carried forward -124,906,608.00 -124,023,790.00 -0.71%

12370 Net income/net loss for the year 49,886,505.00 51,450,391.30 3.04%

Retained Earnings -75,020,103.00 -72,573,398.70 -3.37%

Reserves -75,972,476.70 -73,525,772.40 -3.33%

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders 

of the Parent 479,637,222.30 480,183,591.60 0.11%

EQUITY 479,637,222.30 480,183,591.60 0.11%

12404 Government grants 616,849.00 616,849.00 0.00%
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Special I tems 616,849.00 616,849.00 0.00%

12420 Provisions for employees 4,401,024.00 4,401,024.00 0.00%

Provisions 4,401,024.00 4,401,024.00 0.00%

12570 Payables from derivatives 1,113,864.00 1,113,864.00 0.00%

12580 Finance lease payables 0.00 239,992.00 100.00%

Liabilities to Banks and Other 

Financial Payables 1,113,864.00 1,353,856.00 17.73%

12650 Deferred Tax Liabilities 0.00 8,712,742.98 100.00%

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,131,737.00 15,084,471.98 59.35%

12720 Provisions for employees 2,794,527.00 2,794,527.00 0.00%

12750

Provisions for warranties, guarantees 

and other 3,288,878.00 3,288,878.00 0.00%

12760 Other provisions 3,383,677.00 3,383,677.00 0.00%

Provisions 9,467,082.00 9,467,082.00 0.00%

12770 Trade payables to third parties 37,485,239.00 37,513,844.00 0.08%

12780 Trade payables to affiliated companies 1,884,055.00 1,884,055.00 0.00%

Trade Payables 39,369,294.00 39,397,899.00 0.07%

12860 Payables related to social security 5,694,059.00 5,694,059.00 0.00%

12870 Payables from derivatives 411,777.00 411,777.00 0.00%

12880 Finance lease payables 0.00 2,062,963.00 100.00%

12888 Payables from holidays and unpaid hours 14,211,902.00 14,211,902.00 0.00%

12889

Payables from outstanding suppliers' 

invoices 1,009,931.00 1,009,931.00 0.00%

12890 Other financial payables 86,568.00 86,568.00 0.00%

Liabilities to Banks and Other 

Financial Payables 21,414,237.00 23,477,200.00 8.79%

12910 Payments received 76,194.00 76,194.00 0.00%

12920 Other tax liabilities 1,768,657.00 1,768,657.00 0.00%

Other Liabilities 1,844,851.00 1,844,851.00 0.00%

12950 Income Tax Payables 924,490.00 924,490.00 0.00%

CURRENT LIABILITIES 73,019,954.00 75,111,522.00 2.78%

LIABILITIES 79,151,691.00 90,195,993.98 12.24%

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 558,788,913.30 570,379,585.58 2.03%
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Attachment 5:

Position Description
Local GAAP

TOTAL
IFRS

% 

change

20100 Revenue 648,609,875.00 653,356,175.00 0.73%

Cost of Sales

20422 Income from release of provisions 20,075,568.00 20,075,568.00 0.00%

20430 Recharged expenses and reimbursements 2,781,345.00 2,781,345.00 0.00%

20440 Other operating income for the period 4,657,955.00 4,657,955.00 0.00%

Other operating income relating current period 27,514,868.00 27,514,868.00 0.00%

20510

Cost of raw materials, supplies and

of purchased merchandise 338,449,378.00 338,449,378.00 0.00%

20520 Cost of purchased services 54,918,522.00 54,918,522.00 0.00%

20540 Change in inventories (cost of materials) -1,108,984.00 -1,108,984.00 0.00%

Cost of materials 392,258,916.00 392,258,916.00 0.00%

20610 Salaries and wages 97,299,756.00 97,299,756.00 0.00%

20620 Social security and similar expenses 32,896,997.00 32,896,997.00 0.00%

20630 Pension costs and related fringe benefits 4,702,484.00 4,702,484.00 0.00%

20640 Change in inventories (personnel expenses) -136,724.00 -136,724.00 0.00%

Personnel expenses 134,762,513.00 134,762,513.00 0.00%

20700

Depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and 

equipment 15,436,196.00 17,239,971.00 10.46%

20710 Change in inventories (depreciation etc.) -45,575.00 -45,575.00 0.00%

Depreciation 15,390,621.00 17,194,396.00 10.49%

20800 Change in inventories (other operating expenses) -227,873.00 -227,873.00 0.00%

20805 Other personnel expenses 559,898.00 559,898.00 0.00%

20810 Rentals, leasing, maintenance 16,318,289.00 15,031,667.00 -8.56%

20826 Audit fees, legal and other consulting (incl. IT) 583,286.00 583,286.00 0.00%

20830 Cleaning, waste deposit and similar 1,453,559.00 1,453,559.00 0.00%

20834 Freight costs 1,678,684.00 1,678,684.00 0.00%

20838 Other expenses for services 2,670,529.00 2,670,529.00 0.00%

Expenses for services 22,704,347.00 21,417,725.00 -6.01%

20840 Office supplies, newspapers, books, postage and telephone 247,896.00 247,896.00 0.00%

Profit and Loss Statement
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20844 Travelling expenses 1,948,018.00 1,948,018.00 0.00%

20846 Advertising, public relations, other communication costs 76,512.00 76,512.00 0.00%

Communication costs 2,272,426.00 2,272,426.00 0.00%

20850 Insurance premiums, membership fees and other fees 850,346.00 852,654.00 0.27%

20856

Additions to provisions (unless included in other expense 

positions) 3,016,323.00 3,016,323.00 0.00%

20858 Other operating expenses COS 64,715.00 64,715.00 0.00%

Expenses for fees and other 3,931,384.00 3,933,692.00 0.06%

20930 Cost Contribution / Subsidy Agreement / TPA -4,799,475.00 -4,799,475.00 0.00%

21720 Other taxes 347,130.00 347,130.00 0.00%

Other operating expenses current period 24,787,837.00 23,503,523.00 -5.46%

Total Cost of Sales 539,685,019.00 540,204,480.00 0.10%

Gross Profit 108,924,856.00 113,151,695.00 3.74%

Cost of Research and Development

30440 Other operating income for the period 162,266.00 162,266.00 0.00%

Other operating income relating current period 162,266.00 162,266.00 0.00%

30510

Cost of raw materials, supplies and

of purchased merchandise 691,822.00 691,822.00 0.00%

30520 Cost of purchased services 1,081,411.00 1,081,411.00 0.00%

Cost of materials 1,773,233.00 1,773,233.00 0.00%

30610 Salaries and wages 11,005,795.00 11,005,795.00 0.00%

30620 Social security and similar expenses 3,736,073.00 3,736,073.00 0.00%

30630 Pension costs and related fringe benefits 339,772.00 339,772.00 0.00%

Personnel expenses 15,081,640.00 15,081,640.00 0.00%

30700

Depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and 

equipment 417,223.00 807,375.00 48.32%

Depreciation 417,223.00 807,375.00 48.32%

30805 Other personnel expenses 1,075.00 1,075.00 0.00%

30810 Rentals, leasing, maintenance 5,948.00 5,948.00 0.00%

30814 Patents and licence fees 1,800.00 1,800.00 0.00%

30834 Freight costs 5,409.00 5,409.00 0.00%
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30838 Other expenses for services 685,875.00 685,875.00 0.00%

Expenses for services 699,032.00 699,032.00 0.00%

30840 Office supplies, newspapers, books, postage and telephone 46,876.00 46,876.00 0.00%

30844 Travelling expenses 179,150.00 179,150.00 0.00%

30846 Advertising, public relations, other communication costs 36,905.00 36,905.00 0.00%

Communication costs 262,931.00 262,931.00 0.00%

30850 Insurance premiums, membership fees and other fees 72,661.00 72,661.00 0.00%

30858 Other operating expenses R&D 2,137.00 2,137.00 0.00%

Expenses for fees and other 74,798.00 74,798.00 0.00%

Other operating expenses current period 1,037,836.00 1,037,836.00 0.00%

Total Cost of Research and Development 18,147,666.00 18,537,818.00 2.10%

Distribution Expenses

40430 Recharged expenses and reimbursements 119,758.00 119,758.00 0.00%

Other operating income relating current period 119,758.00 119,758.00 0.00%

40510

Cost of raw materials, supplies and

of purchased merchandise 84,465.00 84,465.00 0.00%

40520 Cost of purchased services 123,195.00 123,195.00 0.00%

Cost of materials 207,660.00 207,660.00 0.00%

40610 Salaries and wages 1,528,548.00 1,528,548.00 0.00%

40620 Social security and similar expenses 525,837.00 525,837.00 0.00%

40630 Pension costs and related fringe benefits 170,099.00 170,099.00 0.00%

Personnel expenses 2,224,484.00 2,224,484.00 0.00%

40700

Depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and 

equipment 44,036.00 239,112.00 81.58%

Depreciation 44,036.00 239,112.00 81.58%

40805 Other personnel expenses 12,307.00 12,307.00 0.00%

40810 Rentals, leasing, maintenance 23,848.00 23,848.00 0.00%

40826 Audit fees, legal and other consulting (incl. IT) 44,017.00 44,017.00 0.00%

40834 Freight costs 39,102.00 39,102.00 0.00%

40838 Other expenses for services 34,181.00 34,181.00 0.00%
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Expenses for services 141,148.00 141,148.00 0.00%

40840 Office supplies, newspapers, books, postage and telephone 45,744.00 45,744.00 0.00%

40844 Travelling expenses 163,614.00 163,614.00 0.00%

40846 Advertising, public relations, other communication costs 4,042.00 4,042.00 0.00%

Communication costs 213,400.00 213,400.00 0.00%

40850 Insurance premiums, membership fees and other fees 157,883.00 157,883.00 0.00%

40858 Other operating expenses distribution 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Expenses for fees and other 157,933.00 157,933.00 0.00%

41720 Other taxes 375.00 375.00 0.00%

Other operating expenses current period 525,163.00 525,163.00 0.00%

Total Distribution Expenses 2,881,585.00 3,076,661.00 6.34%

Administrative Expenses

50410 Rental income 150,806.00 150,806.00 0.00%

50420 Income from grants and subsidies 940,149.00 940,149.00 0.00%

50422 Income from release of provisions 26,898.00 26,898.00 0.00%

50440 Other operating income for the period 10,521.00 10,521.00 0.00%

Other operating income relating current period 1,128,374.00 1,128,374.00 0.00%

50510

Cost of raw materials, supplies and

of purchased merchandise 144,491.00 144,491.00 0.00%

50520 Cost of purchased services 398,489.00 398,489.00 0.00%

Cost of materials 542,980.00 542,980.00 0.00%

50610 Salaries and wages 15,294,588.00 15,294,588.00 0.00%

50620 Social security and similar expenses 4,129,848.00 4,129,848.00 0.00%

50630 Pension costs and related fringe benefits 445,241.00 445,241.00 0.00%

Personnel expenses 19,869,677.00 19,869,677.00 0.00%

50700

Depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and 

equipment 1,236,507.00 1,684,716.00 26.60%

Depreciation 1,236,507.00 1,684,716.00 26.60%

50805 Other personnel expenses 1,337,931.00 1,337,931.00 0.00%

50810 Rentals, leasing, maintenance 431,702.00 228,155.00 -89.21%
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50814 Patents and licence fees 3,879,410.00 3,879,410.00 0.00%

50818 Bank charges, monetary transaction fees 155,877.00 155,877.00 0.00%

50826 Audit fees, legal and other consulting (incl. IT) 1,455,998.00 1,455,998.00 0.00%

50830 Cleaning, waste deposit and similar 9,703.00 9,703.00 0.00%

50835 Allocations from HOLD 122,790.00 122,790.00 0.00%

50838 Other expenses for services 2,849,914.00 2,849,914.00 0.00%

Expenses for services 8,905,394.00 8,701,847.00 -2.34%

50840 Office supplies, newspapers, books, postage and telephone 203,131.00 203,131.00 0.00%

50844 Travelling expenses 172,974.00 172,974.00 0.00%

50846 Advertising, public relations, other communication costs 767,237.00 767,237.00 0.00%

Communication costs 1,143,342.00 1,143,342.00 0.00%

50850 Insurance premiums, membership fees and other fees 1,656,212.00 1,656,212.00 0.00%

50856

Additions to provisions (unless included in other expense 

positions) 100,000.00 100,000.00 0.00%

50858 Other operating expenses admin. 259,959.00 259,959.00 0.00%

Expenses for fees and other 2,016,171.00 2,016,171.00 0.00%

51720 Other taxes 8,818.00 8,818.00 0.00%

Other operating expenses current period 13,411,656.00 13,208,109.00 -1.54%

Total Administrative Expenses 33,932,446.00 34,177,108.00 0.72%

Other Operating Income

60405 Currency exchange rate gains realized 8,205,530.00 3,459,230.00 -137.21%

60410 Currency exchange rate gains unrealized 1,400,717.00 1,407,535.00 0.48%

60415 Income from damage claims and insurance refunds 53,142.00 53,142.00 0.00%

60440 Other operating income 1,746,403.00 1,746,403.00 0.00%

Other operating income relating current period 11,405,792.00 6,666,310.00 -71.10%

60450 Income from release of provisions 2,500,000.00 2,500,000.00 0.00%

60465

Reversal of impairment losses on intangible assets and 

property, plant and equipment 156,727.00 70,831.00 -121.27%

60475 Income from reversal of allowances on accounts receivables 1,983.00 351,741.00 99.44%

60480

Profits on disposal of intangible assets and property, plant 

and equipment 128,828.00 129,627.00 0.62%
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Other operating income previous periods 2,787,538.00 3,052,199.00 8.67%

Total Other Operating Income 14,193,330.00 9,718,509.00 -46.04%

Other Operating Expenses

70854 Damage claims 3,748,574.00 3,748,574.00 0.00%

70858 Other operating expenses 3,838,295.00 619,701.00 -519.38%

70860 Currency exchange rate losses realized 3,755,212.00 3,755,212.00 0.00%

70865 Currency exchange rate losses unrealized 1,210,176.00 1,210,176.00 0.00%

70870 Special and general allowances to accounts receivables 307,394.00 307,394.00 0.00%

Other operating expenses current period 12,859,651.00 9,641,057.00 -33.38%

70880 Bad debts 353.00 353.00 0.00%

70886

Losses on the disposal of intangible assets and property, plant 

and equipment 280,451.00 280,451.00 0.00%

Other operating expenses previous periods 280,804.00 280,804.00 0.00%

Total Other Operating Expenses 13,140,455.00 9,921,861.00 -32.44%

Operating Result 55,016,034.00 57,156,756.00 3.75%

Earnings before Interest and Taxes (EBIT) 55,016,034.00 57,156,756.00 3.75%

81420 Sundry other interest and similar income 63,519.00 63,519.00 0.00%

Other Interest and Similar Income 63,519.00 63,519.00 0.00%

81520 Sundry interest and similar expenses 209,989.00 502,028.00 58.17%

Interest and Similar Expenses 209,989.00 502,028.00 58.17%

Interest income/expense -146,470.00 -438,509.00 66.60%

Financial Result -146,470.00 -438,509.00 66.60%

Earnings before taxes 54,869,564.00 56,718,247.00 3.26%

91710 Taxes on income -875,165.00 -875,165.00 0.00%

91720 Deferred taxes -4,107,894.00 -4,392,690.70 6.48%

Income tax expenses -4,983,059.00 -5,267,855.70 5.41%

Profit for the period 49,886,505.00 51,450,391.30 3.04%

Profit for the period after M inority Interest 49,886,505.00 51,450,391.30 3.04%


